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USA Truck Stockholders:

As we laid out the long-term strategy at USA Truck to become a‘Premier North American Transportation Solutions
Provider,'we knew there would be some tough challenges along the way. Hiring the right team to lead the
transformation, cultivating a winning culture, and diversifying and regionalizing our business are all difficult in the
best of environments. We have made progress on each of those fronts, but as we learned, 2019 was an unexpected
and volatile market that made meeting our performance goals tougher than we had hoped.

Everyone in transportation knows it’s a cyclical business. We expect seasonal and cyclical moves. However, 2019 as
an economic cycle, came earlier than any of us expected. A glut of capacity arose that affected contract pricing and
compromised profits. Insurance markets collectively shifted as insurance capacity exited the marketplace and nuclear
verdicts caused increased premiums throughout the industry. The logistics supply and demand equation was upset
on both sides - capacity was high, which drove pricing down, while demand dropped as well. The confluence of
these issues and the timing created one of the tougher environments any of us had ever seen. Surely, we thought,
2020 has to be better ...

| am writing this letter in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, uncertain of its ultimate impact on global health and
welfare, the broader economy, and our communities. We hope and pray for all those affected in any way by this most
terrible circumstance and unite with people around the world in our faith, empathy, and compassion to make this a
time of learning and healing. We are committed to using the knowledge gained from this experience to work for our
collective good.

We have no way of truly knowing the impact of this pandemic on our business in particular. And there is no playbook
for a crisis of such a magnitude, but we do have some recent experience in crises and change. 2019 taught us a lot
about that.

Business Overview

2019 Lessons Learned. We Can Do Hard Things.

2019 was tough, economically and emotionally. We lost our beloved Chairman, Bob Peiser, in May. About that same
time, two of our most dear and respected driving and training colleagues also lost their lives. The loss of these
mentors and friends had an undeniable impact on our personal lives. We will always miss these men, and yet we are
strengthened in our resolve to achieve greatness because of them and their legacies.



Shortly after the personal tragedies mentioned above, the Arkansas River Valley experienced a‘500-year flood’ that
changed our lives almost instantly. We immediately put our crisis management procedures in place to protect assets —
we literally moved 160 trucks to higher ground overnight. We relocated our corporate headquarters to two separate
locations — one north of the river, one south —in 16 hours and saw teamwork, results, and camaraderie that | had only
previously read about but had never personally witnessed until now.

We had employees, family members, and even unsolicited members of the community show up to sandbag our entire
building perimeter in anticipation of flood waters that never came. Had the levee broken, our estimate was that we
would have seen 7+ feet of water in our building. The risk was just too high — we had to act, and we did so overnight.
It was awe inspiring and incredible to see what our people are capable of achieving when faced with unprecedented
circumstances.

Combine the personal and natural disasters we experienced with the challenging market conditions discussed earlier,
and we truly had the proverbial ‘perfect storm’ for one of our most challenging business years on record. It would have
been easy to stall our progress, to blame the market and Mother Nature, and to wait for brighter days ahead.

But we did the exact opposite. We grew our trucking business, we improved our service with customers, we expanded
our dedicated presence, and we made material progress in closing our results gap with market competitors. It was a
tough year in the transportation market and yet, we made significant progress.

Our story has been one of self-help opportunities to do all the things that industry leaders do. Those opportunities
existed, and continue to exist, at USA Truck even despite market challenges. We have been consistent in that drumbeat
- that while we prefer the tail winds of an up market to make those changes, it is not required. Our opportunity has
been, and remains, to improve our underlying performance with or without market tail winds. Great companies invest
in downturns — in people, processes, and tools in anticipation that the future will indeed have opportunities for those
who are prepared for them.

And so, 2019 was a year that we invested in people and processes. We upgraded our operations leadership with some
of the best in the business. We invested in expanding our terminal infrastructure, we made huge strides forward in
regionalizing, and we embarked on a broad process overhaul so that we would come out of the challenging year better
prepared for the markets ahead.

When adversity hit, we took the opportunity to get better. We focused on operational efficiency and improvement.
We improved our business capability significantly while the market turmoil roiled around us. We like to say, ‘we were
getting fit for the race’and we believe more than ever, that the race to market leadership is still in front of us. Our
investments made in 2019 will aid us in becoming among the best of the best in the future.

2020 and Beyond

The playbook for 2019, it turns out, is readily applicable in the challenges we have already seen in 2020. Being nimble,
which we learned in the 2019 flood, has been a vital survival tactic in the early months of 2020. Our focus on service
and operational execution, coupled with flexibility, has helped us weather the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic
with remarkable composure. Our customers have seen USA Truck spring into action and rise to new levels of
performance in the face of great global adversity.

We've said before that “USA is back” and while we've intermittently seen that in improved financial results, we have
now been able to witness all the hard work of 2019 manifest itself as customer awards are growing, service levels are
rising, and our collective capability is as high as it has ever been.



The investments we have made in people, process, and tools have lent themselves naturally to our 2020 theme as a
business, “Highway 20 RISE" - it's 2020 (“Highway 20"), and we will RISE in 2020 to become an even better Company
with even better results through a focus on the following:

«  R=Retain. There is almost no more critical measure than retaining our drivers and non-driving team
members. With consistency comes profitability. Driver retention especially matters.

«  I=Improve. Continuous improvement has to be our collective mindset.

«  S=Serve. We clarified last year that our combined purpose is to: “Serve our drivers, serve our customers,
and serve each other”.

«  E=Execute. Let's be honest; our plague has been one of poor execution for all too long. Execution
means that we will say what we do and do what we say, that we will improve every day, that we will do
whatever it takes to meet and exceed our own high expectations and that we will improve the
consistency and predictability of our outcomes.

Every individual performance goal throughout our organization for 2020 is tied to the “RISE” acronym. We have every
expectation that we will continue to improve, we will continue to grow, and that our results and strategy will lead to
the type of financial results we all expect.

Itis clear already that 2020 will be a year like none other in the history of the world. We are united with our co-workers,
our customers, and our communities to ensure that we play well the critical role as a transportation provider in these
uncertain times. Our teams have embraced our Company values of teamwork, accountability, commitment, integrity,
and trust in showing up every day and providing the service our country needs from us.

Our business still has a long way to go to achieve our potential. The good news is that we have made fundamental
and structural changes to facilitate the transition to the type of company we aspire to be. Whatever 2020 ultimately
turns out to look like, | can confidently say that we are better prepared now than ever to face the turmoil and
opportunities inherent in tumultuous markets.

Thank you for continuing to trust this team and for your support in making USA Truck a company you can be proud of.
2020 is the year we expect to RISE up and be the best company we can be for employees, customers, and investors
alike. We will continue to improve structurally, we expect to further close the gap with our competitors, and as the
market returns — and it will - we expect to be better positioned to deliver on our self-help story while continuing to
improve our financial results.

James D. Reed
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
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Part 1.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (this “Form 10-K”) contains certain
statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and such
statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical or current fact, are statements that could be deemed
forward-looking statements, including without limitation:

any projections of earnings, revenue, costs or other financial items;

any statement of projected future operations or processes;

any statement of plans, strategies, goals, and objectives of management for future operations;
any statement concerning proposed new services or developments;

any statement regarding future economic conditions or performance; and

any statement of belief and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.

In this Form 10-K, statements relating to:

future driver market,

future ability to grow market share,

future driver and customer-facing employee compensation,

future ability and cost to recruit and retain drivers and customer-facing employees,

future asset utilization,

the amount, timing and price of future acquisitions and dispositions of revenue equipment, size and age of the
Company'’s fleet, mix of fleet between company-owned and independent contractors and anticipated gains or
losses resulting from dispositions,

future depreciation and amortization expense, including useful lives and salvage values of equipment and
intangible assets,

future safety performance,

future profitability,

future industry capacity,

future effects of restructuring actions,

future deployment of technology, including front and inside-facing event recorders,

future pricing rates and freight network,

future fuel prices and surcharges, fuel efficiency and hedging arrangements,

future insurance and claims and litigation expense,

future salaries, wages and employee benefits costs,

future purchased transportation use and expense,

future operations and maintenance costs,

future USAT Logistics growth and profitability,

future trends in operating expenses expected to result from growing our USAT Logistics business and increasing
independent contractors,

future asset sales of non-revenue assets,

future impact of regulations, including enforcement of the ELD mandate,

future use of derivative financial instruments,

our strategy,

our intention about the payment of dividends,

inflation,

future indebtedness,

future liquidity and borrowing availability and capacity,

the impact of pending and future litigation and claims,

future availability and compliance with covenants under our revolving credit facility,

expected amount and timing of capital expenditures,



future equipment market,

expected liquidity and sources of capital resources, including the mix of financing and operating leases,
future size of our independent contractor fleet, and

future income tax rates

among others, are forward-looking statements. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or phrases such
as “expects,” “estimates,” “projects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “focus,” “intends,” “plans,” “goals,” “may,” “if,”
“will,” “should,” “could,” “potential,” “continue,” “future” and similar terms and phrases. Forward-looking
statements are based on currently available operating, financial, and competitive information. Forward-looking
statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, which could
cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in the section entitled “Item 1A., Risk Factors.” Readers should review and consider the factors discussed
under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 14 of this Form 10-K, along with various disclosures in our press releases,
stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

ET Y] EE T ET Y]

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release
publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our
expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such information
is based, except as required by law.

All forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their
entirety by this cautionary statement.

FEINTS o« EXIY] l

References to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and words of similar import refer to USA Truck Inc., and its
subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

USA Truck is one of North America’s top 25 truckload carriers when measured by operating revenue, as determined
by Transport Topics” most recent annual ranking. In 2019, the Company generated $522.6 million in consolidated
operating revenue. As of December 31,2019, the Company’s fleet consisted of 1,990 tractors, which included 421
independent contractor tractors, and 6,212 trailers.

The Company has two reportable segments: (i) Trucking, consisting of the Company’s truckload and dedicated
freight service offerings, and (ii) USAT Logistics, consisting of the Company’s freight brokerage and rail intermodal
service offerings. The Company’s Trucking segment transports customer freight over irregular routes utilizing equipment
owned or leased by either the Company or independent contractors as a medium-haul common carrier. Our dedicated
freight services provide similar freight transport services, but do so pursuant to agreements whereby the Company makes
equipment available to a specific customer for shipments over particular routes at specified times, typically over a multi-
year period. USAT Logistics provides freight brokerage, logistics, and intermodal rail service to its customers by utilizing
third party capacity.

As of December 31, 2019, our corporate structure included USA Truck Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries:
International Freight Services, Inc. (“IFS”), a Delaware corporation; Davis Transfer Company Inc. (“DTC”), a Georgia
corporation, Davis Transfer Logistics Inc. (“DTL”), a Georgia corporation, and B & G Leasing, L.L.C. (“B & G”), a
Georgia limited liability company. Collectively, B & G, DTC, and DTL comprise “Davis Transfer Company”.

Operations

USA Truck is headquartered in Van Buren, Arkansas. The Company transports freight throughout the contiguous
United States, into and out of portions of Canada, and into and out of Mexico by offering through-trailer service from our
terminal in Laredo, Texas. During 2019 and 2018, the Company generated approximately 7% and 8%, respectively, of
the Company’s operating revenues in Mexico and Canada. All Company-owned tractors are domiciled in the United
States. The Company does not separately track domestic and foreign long-lived assets, as substantially all of the
Company’s long-lived assets are located within the United States.



The Company’s Trucking segment operations are supported primarily by driver managers, load planners and
customer service representatives. Driver managers lead teams of professional drivers and are the primary Company contact
for each of our driver team members. Load planners assign loads to available tractors in a manner intended to maximize
profit and minimize costs. Customer service representatives work to fulfill shippers’ needs, solicit freight, and ensure on-
time delivery by monitoring load movement. These teams monitor the location of equipment and direct its movement in
a safe, efficient and practicable manner. The Company strives to operate a safe and productive fleet while providing
superior customer service.

The USAT Logistics segment has a network of regional sales offices located throughout the continental United
States. We believe that regionalization allows greater market insight and strengthens relationships with customers and
carriers alike while capitalizing on the skills and local market insight of the leaders managing these centers. The specific
locations of branch offices are selected for the availability of talent in those markets. At December 31, 2019, USAT
Logistics employed approximately 95 people, most of which interact directly with customers and carriers, matching
customers’ freight needs with available third-party capacity in the marketplace.

The Company has a diversified freight and customer base, and focuses marketing efforts on customers who have
consistent shipping needs within the eastern half of the United States, which is the predominant operating area for our
Trucking operations. USAT Logistics offers services nationwide, and the cross-marketing of service offerings permits us
to strategically position available equipment while providing a full array of supply chain transportation solutions to our
customers. USA Truck team members have cultivated a thorough understanding of the needs of shippers in key industries,
which the Company believes helps with the development of long-term, service-oriented relationships with its customers.

While the Company prefers direct relationships with customers, some high volume shippers require their carriers to
conduct business with designated third party logistics providers. Obtaining shipments through these providers is a
significant opportunity that allows the Company to provide services for high-volume shippers to which it might not
otherwise have access. During 2019, one customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated operating
revenues. USAT Logistics was also dependent upon a single customer for more than 10% of its operating revenue. The
Company’s largest 10 customers comprised approximately 47% of the Company’s consolidated operating revenue.
Overall in 2019, the Company provided services to more than 800 customers across all USA Truck service offerings.

Receivables collection during 2019 averaged approximately 35 days from the invoice date, compared to an average
of approximately 38 days during 2018. Factors contributing to the improvement in days to collection in 2019 were the
result of coordination with customers to expedite their payment processes, where applicable, and more efficient and
expedient invoicing and collections efforts by our accounts receivable team.

Revenue Equipment

Model Year: Tractors (1) Trailers (2)
2020 353 300
2019 394 35
2018 109 404
2017 359 900
2016 320 1,502
2015 — 503
2014 28 482
2013 3 660
2012 3 484
2011 — 65
2010 — 357
2009 — 110
2008 and earlier — 410

Total 1,569 6,212

1) Includes 273 tractors under operating leases and 802 tractors financed by financing leases.

2) Includes 47 trailers under operating leases and 759 trailers financed by financing leases.



The average age of the Company’s in-service tractor fleet was approximately 30.8 months at December 31, 2019.
The Company’s equipment purchase and replacement decisions are based on a number of factors, including but not limited
to, new equipment prices, the used equipment market, trade-in values, demand for freight services, prevailing interest
rates, the attractiveness of lease terms, technological improvements, regulatory changes, fuel efficiency, equipment
durability, equipment specifications and driver comfort. Therefore, depending on the circumstances, the Company may
accelerate or delay the acquisition and disposition of its tractors or trailers from time to time, or may choose to acquire
revenue equipment through operating leases or financed purchases.

To simplify driver and mechanic training, control the cost of spare parts and tire inventory, and provide for a more
efficient vehicle maintenance program, the Company purchases tractors and trailers manufactured to its specifications.
The Company has in place a preventive maintenance program intended to minimize equipment downtime and maintenance
costs.

The Company finances the purchase of revenue equipment through its cash flows from operations, revolving credit
agreement, finance and operating lease arrangements and proceeds from sales of used equipment. Substantially all of the
Company’s tractors and trailers are pledged to secure its obligations under financing arrangements.

All Company and independent contractor tractors are equipped with in-cab communication technology, enabling
two-way communications between the Company and its drivers, through both standardized and free-form messaging,
including electronic logging. The Company also has installed electronic logging devices (“ELDs”) on 100% of its tractor
fleet. This technology enables USA Truck to dispatch drivers efficiently in response to customers’ requests, to provide
real-time information to customers about the status of their shipments and to provide documentation supporting accessorial
charges. Accessorial charges are charges to customers for additional services such as loading, unloading and detainment
or equipment delays. In addition, the Company utilizes satellite-based equipment tracking devices and cargo sensors on
the majority of its trailers. These tracking devices provide the Company with visibility on the locations and load status of
its trailers. The Company has also equipped the Company’s tractor fleet with forward-facing and in-ward facing event
recorders.

Team Members

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately 2,050 team members across all business segments, of
which approximately 69% were Company drivers. The Company believes team member relations to be good, and no team
members are subject to union contracts or part of a collective bargaining unit.

Recruitment, training, and retention of a professional driver workforce, the Company’s most valuable asset, are
essential to the Company’s continued growth and fulfillment of customer needs. USA Truck hires qualified professional
drivers who hold a valid commercial driver’s license, satisfy applicable federal and state safety performance and
measurement requirements, and meet USA Truck’s hiring criteria. These guidelines relate primarily to safety history, road
test evaluations, and various other evaluations, which include physical examinations and mandatory drug and alcohol
testing. In order to attract and retain safe drivers who are committed to customer service and safety, the Company focuses
its driver operations around a collaborative and supportive team environment. The Company provides comfortable, late
model equipment, encourages direct communication with senior management, and pays competitive wages and benefits,
and other incentives intended to encourage driver safety, retention, and long-term employment. Drivers are compensated
on a per mile basis, based on the length of haul and a predetermined number of miles. Drivers are also compensated for
accessorial services provided to customers. Drivers and other employees are encouraged to participate in the Company’s
401(k) program, and Company-sponsored health, life, and dental plans. The Company believes these factors aid in
attracting, recruiting, and retaining professional drivers in a competitive driver market.

Independent Contractors

In addition to Company drivers, USA Truck enters into contracts with independent contractors, who provide a tractor
and a driver and are responsible for all operating expenses in exchange for an agreed upon fee structure. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company had 421 independent contractor operated tractors, which comprised approximately 21%
of the professional driving fleet during 2019, compared to approximately 24% at December 31, 2018.



Competition

The trucking industry includes both private fleets and for-hire carriers. Private fleets consist of trucks owned and
operated by shippers that move their own goods. For-hire carriers include both truckload and less-than-truckload (“LTL”)
operations. The for-hire segment is highly competitive and includes thousands of carriers, none of which controls a
meaningful share of the market. This segment is characterized by many small carriers having revenues of less than $1
million per year and as few as one truck, and relatively few carriers with revenues exceeding $100 million per year.

USA Truck competes primarily with other truckload carriers, private fleets and, to a lesser extent, railroads and LTL
carriers. The principal competitive factors in the truckload segment of the industry are service and price, with rate
discounting becoming particularly important during economic downturns or periods of uncertainty. USA Truck’s focus
is to differentiate itself primarily on the basis of service rather than rates. Although an increase in the size of the market
would benefit all truckload carriers, management believes that successful carriers are likely to grow market share by
providing multiple service offerings, combined with superior customer service, at a competitive price.

Safety and Risk Management

The Company emphasizes safe work habits as a core value throughout the entire organization, and provides
proactive training and education relating to safety concepts, processes and procedures. The Company conducts pre-
employment, random, reasonable suspicion and post-accident alcohol and substance abuse testing in accordance with the
Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regulations and the Company’s own policies.

Safety training for new drivers begins in orientation, when newly hired team members are taught safe driving and
work techniques that emphasize the Company’s commitment to safety. Upon completion of orientation, new student
drivers are required to undergo on-the-road training for four to six weeks with experienced commercial motor vehicle
drivers who have been selected for their professionalism and commitment to safety and who are trained to communicate
safe driving techniques to new drivers. New drivers who graduate from the program must also successfully complete post-
training classroom and road testing before being assigned to their own tractor. Additionally, all Company drivers
participate in on-going training that focuses on collision and injury prevention, among other safety concepts.

The primary risks for which the Company is insured are cargo loss and damage, general liability, personal injury,
property damage, workers’ compensation and employee medical expenses. USA Truck is self-insured for a portion of
claims exposure in each of these areas. The Company’s self-insurance retention levels are $0.5 million for workers’
compensation claims per occurrence, $0.05 million for cargo loss and damage claims per occurrence and $1.0 million for
bodily injury and property damage claims per occurrence. For medical benefits, the Company self-insures up to $0.25
million per plan participant per year with an aggregate claim exposure limit determined by the Company’s year-to-date
claims experience and its number of covered team members. During the most recent renewal, the Company entered into
multi-year structured insurance agreements in the $2 million to $10 million layer, locking in capacity and premiums for
the policy term. While there is increased risk, the Company believes the structure of the agreements shares the risk between
the Company and providers. The Company maintains insurance above the amounts for which it self-insures, subject to
certain limits, with licensed insurance carriers. The Company has excess general, auto and employer’s liability coverage
in amounts substantially exceeding minimum legal requirements. The Company is completely self-insured for physical
damage to its own tractors and trailers, except that the Company carries catastrophic physical damage coverage to protect
against natural disasters.

Although the Company believes the aggregate insurance limits should be sufficient to cover reasonably expected
claims, it is possible that one or more claims could exceed the Company’s aggregate coverage limits. An unexpected loss
or changing conditions in the insurance market could adversely affect premium levels or result in our inability to find
excess coverage in amounts we deem sufficient. As a result, the Company’s insurance and claims expense could increase,
or the Company could raise its self-insured retention or decrease its aggregate coverage limits when its policies are renewed
or replaced. If these costs increase, if reserves are increased, if the Company becomes unable to find excess coverage in
amounts it deems sufficient, if claims in excess of coverage limits are experienced, or if a claim is experienced where
coverage is not provided, the Company’s results of operations and financial condition in any one quarter or annual period
could be materially and adversely affected.



Environmental Regulation

In August 2011, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) and the Environmental Protection
Agency (“EPA”) adopted final rules that established the first-ever fuel economy and greenhouse gas standards for medium
and heavy-duty vehicles, including the tractors the Company employs (the “Phase 1 Standards™). The Phase 1 Standards
apply to tractor model years 2014 to 2018 and require the achievement of an approximate 20 percent reduction in fuel
consumption by the 2018 model year, which equates to approximately four fewer gallons of fuel used for every 100 miles
traveled. In October 2016, the EPA and NHTSA published the final rule mandating the next phase of tighter fuel efficiency
and greenhouse gas standards for medium and heavy-duty tractors and trailers (the “Phase 2 Standards”) that apply to
trailers beginning with model year 2018 and will apply to tractors beginning with model year 2021. The Phase 2 Standards
require nine percent and twenty-five percent reductions in emissions and fuel consumption for trailers and tractors,
respectively, by 2027. The Company believes these requirements could result in increased new tractor and trailer prices
and additional parts and maintenance costs required to retrofit its tractors and trailers with technology to achieve
compliance with such standards, which could adversely affect its operating results and profitability, particularly if such
costs are not offset by potential fuel savings. The Company cannot predict, however, the extent to which its operations
and productivity will be impacted. In October 2017, the EPA announced a proposal to repeal the Phase 2 Standards as
they relate to gliders (which mix refurbished older components, including transmissions and pre-emission-rule engines,
with a new frame, cab, steer axle, wheels, and other standard equipment). Additionally, implementation of the Phase 2
Standards as they relate to trailers has been delayed due to a provisional stay granted in October 2017 by the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the District of Columbia, which is overseeing a case against the EPA and NHTSA by the Truck Trailer
Manufacturers Association (“TTMA”) regarding the Phase 2 Standards. In August 2018, the TTMA filed a motion to
compel the agencies to submit a detailed status report and timeline for the completion of administrative review. The EPA
opposed the motion stating that it was working to develop a proposed rule while the NHTSA opposed the motion on the
grounds that it is continuing to assess next steps. The federal stay has been renewed every 90 days, the EPA has failed to
file any meaningful status reports, and, consequently, the TTMA, on December 3, 2019, filed a motion requesting the
Court move forward with its final determination in light of the lack of progress. On December 26, 2019, the Court lifted
the abeyance on TTMA’s challenge to the Phase 2 Standards, and set a schedule for final briefs to be filed by June 2, 2020.
If the trailer provisions of the Phase 2 Standards are permanently removed, the Company expects that Phase 2 Standards
would have a reduced impact on its operations.

The California Air Resources Board (“CARB”) also adopted emission control regulations that will apply to all
heavy-duty tractors that pull 53-foot or longer box-type trailers within the State of California regardless of the state of
origin. The tractors and trailers subject to these CARB regulations must be either EPA SmartWay certified or equipped
with low-rolling resistance tires and retrofitted with SmartWay-approved aerodynamic technologies. The Company
currently purchases SmartWay certified equipment in its new tractor and trailer acquisitions. In addition, in February 2017
CARB proposed additional phase 2 standards that generally align with the federal Phase 2 standards with respect to model
year 2018 to 2021 tractors, with some minor additional requirements. As proposed, the enhanced California standards
would stay in place even if the federal standards are vacated or otherwise diminished due to legislative or executive action.
CARB approved these standards in September 2018, and set a January 1, 2020 implementation date. However, in
December 2019, due to continuing uncertainty surrounding the federal rules on which the California standards are based,
including the TTMA litigation and EPA inaction, CARB suspended enforcement of these standards for at least two years.
We will continue monitoring any developments with respect to CARB regulations.

Federal and state lawmakers also have proposed potential limits on carbon emissions under a variety of climate-
change proposals. In December 2018, a coalition of nine Northeast and mid-Atlantic states and the District of Columbia
announced an agreement to develop regional limits on carbon emissions from transportation sources. Compliance with
such regulations has increased the cost of our new tractors, may increase the cost of any new trailers that we will operate,
may require us to retrofit certain of our pre-2011 model year trailers that operate in California, and could impair equipment
productivity and increase our operating expenses, including with respect to our Plus Power fleet. Even though most of
these proposals are yet to become law, these adverse effects, combined with the uncertainty as to the reliability of the
newly designed diesel engines and the residual values of these vehicles, could materially increase our costs or otherwise
adversely affect our business or operations.

In order to reduce exhaust emissions, some states and municipalities have begun to restrict the locations and amount
of time where diesel-powered tractors may idle. Further, the Phase 2 Standards include requirements to reduce particulate
emissions caused by idling diesel engines. These restrictions could force the Company to purchase on-board power units
that do not require the engine to idle or to alter our drivers’ behavior, either of which could result in a decrease in
productivity, or increase in driver turnover.



The Company’s terminals often are located in industrial areas where groundwater or other forms of environmental
contamination may have occurred or could occur. The Company’s operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage,
environmental damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others. Certain of the Company’s facilities have oil and/or
fuel storage tanks and fueling islands. A small percentage of the Company’s freight consists of low-grade hazardous
substances, which subjects it to a wide array of regulations. The Company has instituted programs to monitor and control
environmental risks and promote compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations; however, if (i) the
Company is involved in a spill or other accident involving hazardous substances; (ii) there are releases of hazardous
substances the Company transports; (iii) soil or groundwater contamination is found at the Company’s facilities or results
from its operations; or (iv) the Company is found to be in violation of, or fails to comply with, applicable environmental
laws or regulations, then it could be subject to clean-up costs and liabilities, including substantial fines or penalties or civil
and criminal liability, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s business and results of
operations.

Other Regulation

The Company’s operations are regulated and licensed by various United States federal and state, Canadian
provincial, and Mexican federal agencies. Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed
by the DOT. Matters such as weight and equipment dimensions are also subject to United States federal and state
regulation and Canadian provincial regulations. The Company operates in the United States pursuant to operating authority
granted by the DOT, in various Canadian provinces pursuant to operating authority granted by the Ministries of
Transportation and Communications in such provinces, and within Mexico pursuant to operating authority granted by
Secretaria de Comunicaciones y Transportes. To the extent that the Company conducts operations outside the United
States, it is subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits United States companies and their intermediaries
from bribing foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining favorable treatment.

The DOT, through the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSA”), imposes safety and fitness
regulations on the Company and its drivers, including rules that restrict driver hours-of-service (“HOS”). Changes to such
HOS rules can negatively impact the Company’s productivity and affect its operations and profitability by reducing the
number of hours per day or week its drivers may operate and/or disrupting its network. In 2018, FMCSA announced that
it would revisit HOS rules and solicited public comment. In response to the comments receive, on August 22, 2019,
FMCSA released proposed rulemaking. The proposed rule would revise existing HOS rules in order to alleviate
unnecessary burdens placed on drivers in five key areas: (1) extending the 14-hour on-duty limitation by up to two hours
during adverse driving conditions, (2) revising mandatory breaks after 8-hours of continuous driving, (3) reinstating the
option for splitting up the required 10-hour off-duty rest break for drivers operating trucks that are equipped with a sleeper-
berth compartment, (4) expanding short-haul exemptions from 12 hours on-duty to 14 hours on-duty and extending the
distance limit within which the driver may operate from 100 air miles to 150 air miles in order to be consistent with the
rules for long-haul drivers, and (5) allowing a one off-duty break of at least 30 minutes, but not more than three hours, that
would pause a truck driver’s 14-hour driving window, provided the driver takes 10 consecutive hours off-duty at the end
of the work shift. The proposed rule underwent a public comment period that ended in October 2019. While the proposed
rulemaking may alleviate certain burdens on the Company’s productivity and operations, any future changes to HOS rules
could materially and adversely affect the Company’s operations and profitability.

There are two methods of evaluating the safety and fitness of carriers. The first method is the application of a safety
rating that is based on an onsite investigation. The Company currently has a satisfactory DOT safety rating under this
method, which is the highest available rating under the current safety rating scale. If the Company were to receive a
conditional or unsatisfactory DOT safety rating, it could affect or restrict our operations as well as adversely affect the
Company’s business, as some of its existing customer contracts require a satisfactory DOT safety rating. In January 2016,
FMCSA published a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking outlining a revised safety rating measurement system, which would
replace the current methodology. Under the proposed rule, the current three safety ratings of “satisfactory,” “conditional,”
and “unsatisfactory” would be replaced with a single safety rating of “unfit,” and a carrier would be deemed fit when no
rating was assigned. Moreover, the proposed rules would use roadside inspection data, in addition to investigations and
onsite reviews, to determine a carrier’s safety fitness on a monthly basis. Under the current rules, a safety rating can only
be given upon completion of a comprehensive onsite audit or review. The proposed rule underwent a public comment
period that ended in June 2016 and several industry groups and lawmakers expressed their disagreement with the proposed
rule, arguing that it violates the requirements of the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (the “FAST Act”) and
that FMCSA must first finalize its review of the Compliance Safety Accountability (“CSA”) program scoring system,
described in further detail below. Based on this feedback and other concerns raised by industry stakeholders, in



March 2017, FMCSA withdrew the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking related to the new safety rating system. In its notice
of withdrawal, the FMCSA noted that a new rulemaking related to a similar process may be initiated in the future.
Therefore, it is uncertain if, when, or under what form any such rule could be implemented.

In addition to the safety rating system, FMCSA has adopted the CSA program as an additional safety enforcement
and compliance model that evaluates and ranks fleets on certain safety-related standards. The CSA program analyzes data
from roadside inspections, moving violations, crash reports from the last two years, and investigation results. The data is
organized into seven categories. Carriers are grouped by category with other carriers that have a similar number of safety
events (e.g., crashes, inspections, or violations) and carriers are ranked and assigned a rating percentile to prioritize them
for interventions if they are above a certain threshold. CSA scores are used by FMCSA to identify carriers with potential
safety issues for interventions, including warning letters, inspections, and audits that can then lead to more formal agency
action. Additionally, a poor score may (i) impact driver recruiting and retention by causing high-quality drivers to seek
employment with other carriers, (ii) cause the Company’s customers to direct their business away from the Company and
to carriers with higher fleet rankings, (iii) subject the Company to an increase in compliance reviews and roadside
inspections, (iv) increase insurance costs, or (v) cause the Company to incur greater than expected expenses in its attempts
to improve unfavorable scores, any of which could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and profitability.

Under the CSA program, these scores were initially made available to the public in five of the seven categories.
However, pursuant to the FAST Act, which was signed into law in December 2015, FMCSA was required to remove from
public view the previously available CSA scores while it reviews the reliability of the scoring system. During this period
of review by FMCSA, the Company will continue to have access to its scores and will still be subject to intervention by
FMCSA when such scores are above the intervention thresholds. A congressionally mandated report by the National
Academy of Sciences related to the CSA program was released in June 2017 which recommended: (i) reconfiguring the
underlying statistical model under the CSA’s Safety Measurement System (the percentile ranking categories used to target
carriers for intervention) with a so-called item response theory model to more accurately target at-risk carriers, (ii) making
the scoring system more transparent and easier for carriers to replicate and understand, and (iii) departing from using
relative metrics as the sole means for targeting carriers. In response to this report, FMCSA has created a small-scale IRT
model but, due to data deficiencies and concerns that the complex model could not be adequately explained to both the
trucking industry and the public, FMCSA has stated that it will not decide on whether to create and adopt the full-scale
IRT model until September 2020. FMCSA has also updated the CSA website improving data accessibility for enforcement
users and carriers subject to the program. In June 2019, a federal appropriations bill was introduced that, if passed, would
force FMCSA to restore public access to the CSA. This bill has yet to advance beyond the House Appropriations
Committee. Insofar as any of these changes increase the likelihood of us receiving unfavorable scores or mandate the
FMCSA to restore public access to scores, our results of operations and profitability could be adversely affected. The
Company will continue to monitor FMCSA’s ITM testing and subsequent proposed rules that may affect the scoring
methodology in order to continue to promote improvement of scores in all seven categories with ongoing reviews of all
safety-related policies, programs and procedures for their effectiveness.

We have on certain occasions exceeded the established intervention thresholds in a number of the seven CSA safety-
related categories. Based on these unfavorable ratings, our driver fleet could be prioritized for intervention actions or
roadside inspections, either of which could have a materially adverse effect our results of operations. In addition,
customers may be less likely to assign loads to us. We have put procedures in place in an attempt to address areas where
we have exceeded the thresholds. However, we cannot guarantee these measures will be effective.

In 2015, FMCSA issued final rules requiring nearly all carriers, including the Company, to install and use ELDs in
their tractors by December 2019, in order to electronically monitor truck miles and enforce HOS. Carriers are subject to
citations, on a state-by-state basis, for non-compliance with the rule. The Company was compliant with ELDs on 100%
of all required vehicles prior to the December 2019 deadline.

In the aftermath of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, federal, state and municipal authorities implemented
and continue to implement various security measures, including checkpoints and travel restrictions on large trucks. The
Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”) has adopted regulations that require determination by the TSA that each
driver who applies for or renews his license for carrying hazardous materials is not a security threat. These regulations
were adopted as final on October 1, 2019.



In January 2016, FMCSA'’s final rule related to driver coercion took effect. Under this rule, carriers, shippers,
receivers, or transportation intermediaries that are found to have coerced drivers to violate certain FMCSA regulations
(including HOS rules) may be fined up to $16,000 for each offense.

In December 2016, FMCSA and DOT published the Commercial Driver’s License Drug and Alcohol Clearinghouse
rule as mandated by the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act. The rule establishes and mandates a query
to the Clearinghouse by employers and prospective employers to determine if current or prospective drivers have had any
drug/alcohol positives or refusals. The rule went into effect in January 2017 and mandates compliance by January 2020
to allow time for the design and implementation of the clearinghouse IT systems. This system has now been implemented
and the Company is in compliance with all query requirements. The Company anticipates that compliance with this system
may decrease driver availability for both the industry as a whole, and our Company, specifically.

Other rules have been recently proposed or made final by FMCSA, including (i) a rule imposing a lifetime ban on
driving commercial trucks for those who commit certain severe human trafficking offenses, (ii) a rule requiring the use of
speed limiting devices on heavy duty tractors to restrict maximum speeds, which was proposed in 2016, and (iii) a rule
setting forth minimum driver training standards for new drivers applying for commercial driver’s licenses for the first time
and to experienced drivers upgrading their licenses or seeking a hazardous materials endorsement, which was made final
in December 2016, with a compliance date in February 2020. In July 2017, the DOT announced that it would no longer
pursue a speed limiter rule, but left open the possibility that it could resume such a pursuit in the future. The effect of
these rules, to the extent they become effective, could result in a decrease in fleet production and driver availability, either
of which could adversely affect the Company’s business or operations.

The use of independent contractors in the trucking industry has been challenged by tax and other regulatory
authorities and has been the subject of class action lawsuits brought by current and former independent contractors who
work, or have worked, in the industry. In general, the regulatory efforts and litigation center around the view that
independent contractor drivers in the trucking industry are employees rather than independent contractors. In some cases
the targeted companies have used a lease-purchase independent contractor agreement, which may make a company more
susceptible to the claims. The regulatory efforts have occurred on the state and in some cases on a federal level. The
factors that determine independent contractor versus employee status vary depending on the jurisdiction and the particular
statute or law involved. The regulatory effort and litigation include efforts to treat the independent contractors of trucking
companies, such as ours, as employees for purposes of workers’ compensation, unemployment compensation, income
taxes, minimum wage and overtime claims, expense reimbursement, meal and rest periods, employee benefits (health care,
retirement, and other benefits), and other employment-related claims. This issue may also arise in some tort cases. In
some cases, claimants have been successful in securing large settlements or have prevailed in their claims that the
independent contractors are employees.

Federal legislators continue to introduce legislation concerning the classification of independent contractors as
employees, including legislation that proposes to increase the tax and labor penalties against employers who intentionally
or unintentionally misclassify employees as independent contractors and are found to have violated employee overtime or
wage requirements. Additionally, federal legislators have sought to (i) abolish the current safe harbor allowing taxpayers
meeting certain criteria to treat individuals as independent contractors if they are following a long-standing, recognized
practice, (ii) extend the Fair Labor Standards Act to independent contractors, and (iii) impose notice requirements based
upon employment or independent contractor status and fines for failure to comply.

Some states have adopted initiatives to increase their revenues from items such as unemployment, workers’
compensation, and income taxes, and the Company believes a reclassification of independent contractor drivers as
employees would help states with this initiative. For example, in September 2019, California signed a bill into law that,
as of January 2020, requires us to classify many of our independently contracted drivers as employees and treat them
accordingly. This state law is being challenged in the federal courts by the California Trucking Association and the industry
is actively lobbying the California legislature for an exemption. However, recently issued opinions from the U.S.
Department of Labor’s Wage and Hour Division and the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”) are consistent with
the Company’s current treatment of its workforce.



If the independent contractors the Company engages were determined to be its employees, it would incur additional
exposure under federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment, and tort laws,
which could potentially include prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits and tax withholdings.
The Company currently observes and monitors its compliance with current related and applicable laws and regulations,
but it cannot predict whether it will be the subject of regulatory efforts or litigation challenging the independent contractor
status of its workforce. The Company cannot predict laws and regulations adopted in the future regarding the classification
of the independent contractor drivers it engages or the impact on the Company’s business or operations.

The regulatory environment has changed under the administration of President Trump. In January 2017, the
President signed an executive order requiring federal agencies to repeal two regulations for each new one they propose
and imposing a regulatory budget, which would limit the amount of new regulatory costs federal agencies can impose on
individuals and businesses each year. The Company does not believe the order has had a significant impact on its industry.
However, the order, and other anti-regulatory action by the President and/or Congress, may inhibit future new regulations
and/or lead to the repeal or delayed effectiveness of existing regulations. Therefore, it is uncertain how the Company may
be impacted in the future by existing, proposed, or repealed regulations.

For further discussion regarding such laws and regulations, refer to the “Risk Factors” section under Part 1, I[tem 1A
of this Form 10-K.

Seasonality

In the trucking industry, revenue has historically followed a seasonal pattern for various commodities and customer
businesses. While peak freight demand has historically occurred in the months of September, October and November, no
assurance can be provided that our current year experience will reflect this. After the December holiday season and during
the remaining winter months, freight volumes are typically lower as many customers reduce shipment levels. Operating
expenses have historically been higher in the winter months due primarily to decreased fuel efficiency, increased cold
weather-related maintenance costs of revenue equipment and increased insurance and claims costs attributed to adverse
winter weather conditions. Revenue can also be impacted by weather, holidays and the number of business days that occur
during a given period, as revenue is directly related to the available working days of shippers.

Available Information

USA Truck was incorporated in Delaware in September 1986 as a wholly owned subsidiary of ArcBest Corporation
(formerly, ABF Freight System, Inc.), and was purchased by management in December 1988. The initial public offering
of the Company’s common stock was completed in March 1992. The Company’s principal offices are located at 3200
Industrial Park Road, Van Buren, Arkansas 72956, and its telephone number is (479) 471-2500.

The Company maintains a website where additional information regarding USA Truck’s business and operations
may be found. The website address is www.usa-truck.com. The website provides investor information free of charge, as
soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such materials with the SEC. These materials include the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, stock
ownership reports filed under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, and any amendments to such reports we file or furnish
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Information provided on the Company website is not incorporated
by reference into this Form 10-K, and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risks and uncertainties may cause our actual results, business, financial condition and cash flows to
differ from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-K. You should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements made herein because such statements speak only to the date they were made. We
undertake no obligation or duty to revise or update any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect subsequent
events or circumstances or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. Also refer to the Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in Part I of this Form 10-K.
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Our business is subject to general economic, credit, and business factors affecting the trucking industry that are largely
out of our control, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

The truckload industry is highly cyclical, and our business is dependent on factors that may have a materially adverse
effect on our results of operations, many of which are beyond our control. We believe that some of the most significant
of these factors include (i) excess tractor and trailer capacity in the trucking industry in comparison with shipping demand;
(i1) driver shortages and increases in driver compensation; (iii) declines in the resale value of used revenue equipment; (iv)
compliance with ongoing regulatory requirements; (v) strikes, work stoppages or work slowdowns at our facilities or at
customer, port, border crossing or other shipping-related facilities; (vi) increases in interest rates, fuel taxes, insurance,
tolls, and license and registration fees; and (vii) rising costs of healthcare.

We are affected by (i) recessionary economic cycles which may be characterized by weak demand and downward
pressure on rates; (ii) changes in customers’ inventory levels and practices, including shrinking product/package sizes, and
in the availability of funding for their working capital; and (iii) downturns in our customers’ business cycles, particularly
in market segments and industries, such as retail and manufacturing, where we have significant customer concentration,
and regions of the country, such as the midwest and southeast, where we have a significant amount of business. Economic
conditions may adversely affect our customers and their demand for and ability to pay for our services. We may be
required to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts for customers encountering adverse economic conditions.

Economic conditions that decrease shipping demand or increase the supply of available tractors and trailers can
exert downward pressure on rates and equipment utilization, thereby decreasing asset productivity. For our USAT
Logistics segment, imbalance between capacity and demand is usually favorable to our financial performance, while
market equilibrium is usually unfavorable to our financial performance as logistics services are generally of less value to
either shippers or carriers in such environment. The risks associated with these factors are heightened when the United
States economy is weakened. Some of the principal risks during such times, which risks we have experienced during prior
recessionary periods, are as follows:

e we may experience low overall freight levels, which may reduce our asset utilization;

e freight patterns may change as supply chains are redesigned, resulting in an imbalance between our capacity
and our customers’ freight demand;

e customers may bid out freight or utilize competitors that offer lower rates in an attempt to lower their costs,
and we might be forced to lower our rates or lose freight;

e we may be forced to accept more loads from freight brokers, where freight rates are typically lower, or may
be forced to incur more non-revenue generating miles to obtain loads; and

e lack of access to current sources of capital, leading to an inability to secure financing on satisfactory terms,
or at all.

We are subject to cost increases that are outside our control that could materially reduce our profitability if we are
unable to increase our rates sufficiently. Such costs include, but are not limited to, increases in driver and office employee
wages, fuel prices, purchased transportation costs, taxes, interest rates, tolls, license and registration fees, insurance and
claims, equipment maintenance, tires and other ancillary equipment components and healthcare and other benefits for our
employees. Further, we may not be able to appropriately adjust our costs to changing market demands. In order to maintain
high efficiencies in our business model, it is necessary to adjust staffing levels to changing market demands. In periods
of rapid change, it is more difficult to match our staffing level to our business levels.

Changing impacts of regulatory measures could adversely impact our operating efficiency and productivity,
decrease our operating revenues and profitability, and result in higher operating costs. In addition, declines in the resale
value of used revenue equipment can also affect our profitability and cash flows. From time to time, various federal, state,
or local taxes could also increase, including taxes on fuel. We cannot predict whether, or in what form, any such increase
will be enacted that may be applicable to us, but such an increase could adversely affect our results of operations.

In addition, we cannot predict future economic conditions, fuel price fluctuations, or how consumer confidence
could be affected by actual or threatened armed conflicts or terrorist attacks, government efforts to combat terrorism,
military action against a foreign state or group located in a foreign state, or heightened security requirements. Enhanced
security measures in connection with such events could impair our operating efficiency and productivity and result in
higher operating costs.
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We operate in a highly competitive and fragmented industry, and numerous competitive factors could impair our ability
to maintain or improve our results of operations.

Numerous competitive factors present in our industry could impair our ability to maintain or improve our current
profitability and could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. These factors include the following:

e  We compete with many other truckload carriers of varying sizes and, to a lesser extent, with less-than-
truckload carriers, railroads, intermodal providers, freight brokers, and other transportation and logistics
companies, many of which have access to more equipment and greater capital resources than we do.

e  Many of our competitors periodically reduce their freight rates to gain business, especially during times of
reduced growth rates in the economy or overcapacity, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase
freight rates or maintain growth in our business or may require us to reduce our freight rates in order to
maintain business and keep our equipment productive.

e We may increase the size of our fleet during periods of high freight demand during which our competitors
also increase their capacity, and we may experience losses in greater amounts than such competitors during
subsequent cycles of softened freight demand if we are required to dispose of assets at a loss to match reduced
customer demand;

e Some of our customers are other transportation companies or also operate their own private trucking fleets,
and they may decide to transport more of their own freight.

e Customers continue to reduce the number of carriers they use by selecting so-called “core carriers” as
approved service providers or by engaging dedicated providers, and in some instances we may not be selected
as a core carrier.

e Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, and this process
may depress freight rates or result in the loss of some of our business to competitors.

e The trend toward consolidation in the trucking industry may create large carriers with greater financial
resources and other competitive advantages relating to their size, and we may have difficulty competing with
these larger carriers.

e The market for qualified drivers is increasingly competitive, and our inability to attract and retain drivers
could reduce our equipment utilization or cause us to increase compensation, both of which would adversely
affect our profitability.

e  Competition from non-asset-based and other logistics and freight brokerage companies may adversely affect
customer relationships.

e Economies of scale that procurement aggregation providers may pass on to smaller carriers may improve
their ability to compete with us.

e Advances in technology may require us to increase investments in order to remain competitive, and our
customers may not be willing to accept higher freight rates to cover the cost of these investments.

e  The USA Truck and Davis Tranfer Company brand names are valuable assets that are subject to the risk of
adverse publicity (whether or not justified), which could result in the loss of value attributable to our brand(s)

and reduced demand for our services.

e Higher fuel prices and, in turn, higher fuel surcharges to our customers may cause some of our customers to
consider freight transportation alternatives, including rail transportation.
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We self-insure for a portion of our claims exposure, which could significantly increase the volatility of, and decrease
the amount of, our earnings.

Our business results in claims and litigation related to personal injuries, property damage and workers’
compensation. We self-insure a portion of our claims exposure, which could increase the volatility of, and decrease the
amount of, our earnings, and could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. Our future insurance and
claims expenses may exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. We currently accrue amounts for liabilities
based on our assessment of claims that arise and our insurance coverage for the periods in which the claims arise and we
evaluate and revise these accruals from time-to-time based on additional information. However, ultimate results may
differ from our estimates due to a number of uncertainties, including evaluation of severity, legal costs, and claims that
have been incurred but not reported, which could result in losses greater than our reserved amounts. At certain times in
the past, we have had to adjust our reserves, and future significant adjustments may occur. Further, our self-insured
retention levels could change and result in more volatility than in recent years. If we are required to reserve or pay
additional amounts because our estimates are revised or the claims ultimately prove to be more severe than originally
assessed or if our self-insured retention levels change, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially
adversely affected. For further discussion regarding our self-insured retention levels, including our self-insured retention
amounts, refer to the “Safety and Risk Management” section under Part 1, Item 1 of this Form 10-K.

We maintain insurance for most risk above the amounts for which we self-insure and the cost of, and retention levels

for, such insurance could increase, and we could suffer claims for amounts in excess of such insurance, or claims that
are not covered by our insurance, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

We maintain insurance for most risks above the amounts for which we self-insure with licensed insurance carriers.
If any claim is not covered by an insurance policy, exceeds our coverage, or falls outside the aggregate coverage limit, we
would bear the excess or uncovered amount, in addition to our self-insured amount. Although we believe our aggregate
insurance limits are sufficient to cover reasonably expected claims, it is possible that one or more claims could exceed
those limits. Insurance carriers have recently raised premiums for the trucking industry. Our insurance and claims expense
could increase if we have a similar experience at renewal, or we could find it necessary to raise our self-insured retention
or decrease our aggregate coverage limits when our policies are renewed or replaced. Additionally, with respect to our
insurance carriers, the industry is experiencing a decline in the number of carriers and underwriters that offer excess
insurance policies or that are willing to provide insurance for trucking companies, and the necessity to go off-shore for
insurance needs has increased. This may have a material adverse effect on our insurance costs or make insurance in excess
of our self-insured retention more difficult to find, as well as increase our collateral requirements for policies that require
security. In the event that (i) our insurance expenses increase, (ii) we become unable to find excess coverage in amounts
we deem sufficient, (iii) we experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, or (iv) we experience a claim for which
we do not have coverage, there could be a materially adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Healthcare legislation and cost inflation also could negatively impact financial results by increasing annual
employee healthcare costs. In addition, rising healthcare costs could force us to make changes to our existing benefits
program, which could negatively impact our ability to attract and retain employees.

Our indebtedness and finance and operating lease obligations could adversely affect our ability to respond to changes
in our industry or business.

Our level of indebtedness and lease obligations is significant. As a result of our current level of debt, finance leases,
operating leases and encumbered assets, we believe:

e  our vulnerability to adverse economic conditions and competitive pressures is heightened;

e we will continue to be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to lease and
interest payments and repayment of debt, limiting the availability of cash for other purposes;

e our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited;
e our results of operations and cash flows are sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates because some of our debt

obligations are subject to variable interest rates, and future borrowings and lease financing arrangements may be
affected by any such fluctuations;
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e our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, or
other purposes may be limited;

e we may be placed at a competitive disadvantage relative to some of our competitors that have less, or less
restrictive, debt than us; and

e we may be required to issue additional equity securities to raise funds, which would dilute the ownership position
of our stockholders.

Our financing obligations could negatively impact our future operations, our ability to satisfy our capital needs, or
our ability to engage in other business activities or strategic opportunities. We also cannot assure you that additional
financing will be available to us when required or, if available, will be on terms satisfactory to us.

In the future, we may need to obtain additional financing that may not be available or, if it is available, may result in a
reduction in the percentage ownership of our then-existing stockholders.

We may need to raise additional funds in order to:

e finance unanticipated working capital requirements, capital investments or refinance existing indebtedness;

develop or enhance our technological infrastructure and our existing services;

fund strategic relationships or opportunities;
e respond to competitive pressures, including to fund operating losses; and
e acquire complementary businesses or services.

If the economy and/or the credit markets weaken, or we are unable to enter into finance or operating leases to acquire
revenue equipment on terms favorable to us, our business, financial results and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected, especially if consumer confidence declines and domestic spending decreases. If adequate funds are
not available or are not available on acceptable terms, our ability to fund our strategic initiatives, take advantage of new
opportunities, develop or enhance technology or services or otherwise respond to competitive pressures could be
significantly limited. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership of our
then-existing stockholders may be diluted, and holders of these securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior
to those of our then-existing stockholders.

Our revolving credit agreement and other financing arrangements contain certain covenants, restrictions, and
requirements that we may be unable to comply with. A default could result in the acceleration of all or part of any
outstanding indebtedness, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of
operations, and the market price of our common stock.

On January 31, 2019, we entered into a five-year, $225.0 million senior secured revolving credit agreement (“Credit
Facility””) with a group of lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as agent, pursuant to the terms of an Amended and Restated
Security Agreement.

The Credit Facility contains a single springing financial covenant, which requires us to maintain a consolidated
fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0. The financial covenant springs only in the event excess availability under
the Credit Facility drops below 10% of the lenders’ total commitments under the Credit Facility. In addition, in the event
our excess availability under the Credit Facility drops below 20% of the lenders’ total commitments under the Credit
Facility, we may be subject to certain additional restrictions, such as restricting our ability to pay dividends, make certain
investments, prepay certain indebtedness, execute share repurchase programs, and enter into certain acquisitions and
hedging arrangements. The fixed charge coverage ratio is affected by our level of earnings and is adversely affected by
operating losses and other charges such as severance costs and impairment charges. In recent years, we have incurred
operating losses, severance and restructuring costs and impairment charges relating to, among others, a decline in the
appraised value of our Company-owned revenue equipment fleet. Future operating losses, severance and restructuring
actions and further declines in the appraised value of our Company-owned revenue equipment fleet would adversely affect
our fixed charge coverage ratio and could impair our ability to make further borrowings under our Credit Facility.
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The Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and covenants related to, among other things, dividends, liens,
acquisitions and dispositions, affiliate transactions, and the incurrence of other indebtedness. The Credit Facility is secured
by a pledge of substantially all of our Company-owned tractors and trailers, with the exclusion of any real estate or revenue
equipment financed outside the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility includes usual and customary events of default for a
facility of this nature and provides that, upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default, payment of all amounts
payable under the Credit Facility may be accelerated, and the lenders’ commitments may be terminated.

If we fail to comply with any of our financing arrangement covenants, restrictions, or requirements, we would be in
default under the relevant agreement. In the event of any such default, if we failed to obtain replacement financing or
amendments to, or waivers under, the applicable financing arrangements, existing lenders could cease to make further
advances, declare existing debt to be immediately due and payable, fail to renew letters of credit, impose significant
restrictions and requirements on our operations, institute foreclosure proceedings against collateralized assets, or impose
significant fees. If acceleration occurs, it may be difficult or expensive to refinance the accelerated debt and the issuance
of additional equity securities could dilute stock ownership. Even if new financing can be procured, more stringent
borrowing terms could mean that credit is not available to us on acceptable terms. A default under these financing
arrangements could cause a materially adverse effect on the liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have significant ongoing capital requirements that could adversely affect our profitability if we are unable to
generate sufficient cash from operations, match our capital investments with customer demand, or obtain financing on
favorable terms.

The truckload industry is capital intensive, and our policy of operating newer equipment requires us to expend
significant amounts annually. We expect to pay for projected capital expenditures with funds provided by operations,
borrowings under the Credit Facility, proceeds from the sale of used revenue equipment, and finance and operating leases.
We base our equipment purchase and replacement decisions on a number of factors, including the state of the economic
environment, new equipment prices, the used revenue equipment market, the attractiveness of lease terms, demand for
freight services, prevailing interest rates, technological improvements, regulatory changes, fuel efficiency, equipment
durability, equipment specifications, and driver comfort and retention. Further, if anticipated demand for our services
differs materially from actual results, we may have too many or too few revenue equipment assets. Moreover, resource
requirements vary based on customer demand, which may be subject to seasonal or general economic conditions. During
periods of decreased customer demand, our asset utilization may suffer, and we may decide to sell used revenue equipment
on the open market or turn in used revenue equipment under certain equipment leases in order to right size our fleet. This
could cause us to incur losses on such sales or require payments in connection with the return of such equipment,
particularly during times of a softer used equipment market, either of which could have a materially adverse effect on our
profitability.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations or obtain borrowing on favorable terms, we may be
forced to reduce our operations, limit our growth, enter into less favorable financing arrangements, or operate revenue
equipment for longer periods, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations.

Upgrading our tractors to reduce the average age of our fleet may not increase our profitability or result in cost savings
as expected or at all.

Upgrades of our tractor fleet may not result in an increase in profitability or cost savings. Expected improvements
in operating costs may lag behind new tractor deliveries, primarily because in executing a tractor fleet upgrade, we may
experience costs associated with preparing our old tractors for disposal, and our new tractors for integration into our fleet,
and lost driving time while swapping revenue equipment. Further, tractor prices have in recent years increased and may
continue to increase, due in part to government regulations applicable to newly manufactured tractors and diesel engines.

In addition, we cannot be certain that an agreement will be reached between the Company and prospective vendors
on price or other terms that we deem favorable. If we do enter an agreement for the purchase of new tractors, we could be
exposed to the risk that the new tractor deliveries will be delayed. Accordingly, we are subject to an increased risk that
upgrades of our tractor fleet will not result in the operational results, cost savings and increases in profitability that we
expect.
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Fluctuations in the price or availability of fuel, the volume and terms of diesel fuel purchase commitments, surcharge
collection, and hedging activities may increase our costs of operations.

Fuel is one of our largest operating expenses. Diesel fuel prices fluctuate greatly due to factors beyond our control,
such as political events, terrorist activities, armed conflicts, commodity futures trading, devaluation of the dollar against
other currencies, and hurricanes and other natural or man-made disasters, each of which may lead to an increase in the cost
of fuel. Fuel prices also are affected by the rising demand for fuel in developing countries, and could be materially
adversely affected by the use of crude oil and oil reserves for purposes other than fuel production and by diminished
drilling activity. Such events may lead not only to increases in fuel prices, but also to fuel shortages and disruptions in the
fuel supply chain. Because our operations are dependent upon diesel fuel, significant diesel fuel cost increases, shortages,
rationings, or supply disruptions could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Fuel also is subject to regional pricing differences and is often more expensive in certain areas where we operate.
Increases in fuel costs, to the extent not offset by rate per mile increases or fuel surcharges, have a materially adverse effect
on our results of operations. While we have fuel surcharge programs in place with a majority of our customers, which
historically have helped us offset the majority of the negative impact of rising fuel prices associated with loaded or billed
miles, we also incur fuel costs that cannot be recovered, such as those associated with non-revenue generating miles or
time when our engines are idling. Moreover, the terms of each customer’s fuel surcharge program vary, and certain
customers have sought to modify the terms of their fuel surcharge programs to lower our recoverability for fuel price
increases. During periods of low freight volumes, customers may use their negotiating leverage to impose fuel surcharge
policies that provide a lower reimbursement of our fuel costs. There is no assurance that our fuel surcharge programs can
be maintained indefinitely or will be sufficiently effective. In addition, because our fuel surcharge recovery lags behind
changes in fuel prices, our fuel surcharge recovery may not capture the increased costs we pay for fuel, especially when
prices are rising. This could lead to fluctuations in our levels of reimbursement, which have occurred in the past. There
can be no assurance that such fuel surcharges can be maintained indefinitely or will be sufficiently effective.

From time to time, we have used hedging contracts and volume purchase arrangements to attempt to limit the effect
of price fluctuations. Hedging arrangements effectively allow us to pay a fixed rate for fuel on gallons hedged that is
determined based on the market rate at the time we enter into the hedge. In times of falling diesel fuel prices, our costs
will not be reduced to the same extent they would have reduced if we had not entered into the hedging contracts and we
may incur significant expense in connection with our obligation to make cash payments under such contracts. Accordingly,
in times of falling diesel fuel prices, our results of operations and cash flows could also be materially adversely affected.

Volatility in the used revenue equipment market could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations.

Decreased demand for used revenue equipment could adversely affect our operating results. As we continually
replace our revenue equipment, we rely on the used revenue equipment market to extract remaining value out of our used
equipment. The market for used revenue equipment is impacted by several factors, including the demand for freight, the
supply of used equipment, the availability of financing, the presence of buyers for export to foreign countries, and, to a
lesser extent, commodity prices for scrap metal. A depressed market for used revenue equipment could require us to
dispose of our revenue equipment at depressed values or to record losses on disposal or impairments of the carrying values
of our revenue equipment that is not protected by residual value arrangements. If there is a deterioration of resale prices,
it could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. A deterioration of
demand for used revenue equipment could make it more difficult to dispose of and replace older equipment and may
reduce our ability to refresh our fleet, both of which could negatively impact our results of operations.

Increased prices for new revenue equipment, design changes of new engines, decreased availability of new revenue
equipment, and the failure of manufacturers to meet their sale or trade-back obligations to us could have a materially
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and/or results of operations.

We are subject to risk with respect to higher prices for new tractors and trailers. We have experienced an increase
in prices for new tractors over the past few years, and the resale value of the used tractors has not increased to the same
extent. Prices have increased and may continue to increase, due, in part, to government regulations applicable to newly
manufactured tractors, trailers and diesel engines, higher commodity prices, and the pricing power of equipment
manufacturers. In addition, we have recently equipped our tractors with safety, acrodynamic, and other options that
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increase the price of new equipment. More restrictive EPA and state emissions standards have required manufacturers to
introduce new engines. These regulations have increased the cost of our new tractors and could impair equipment
productivity, result in lower fuel mileage, and increase our operating expenses. Our business could be harmed if we are
unable to continue to obtain an adequate supply of new tractors and trailers for these or other reasons. As a result, we
expect to continue to pay increased prices for revenue equipment and incur additional expenses and related financing costs
for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, reduced equipment efficiency and lower fuel mileage may result from new engines
designed to reduce emissions at the sacrifice of fuel efficiency, thereby increasing our operating expenses.

Tractor and trailer vendors may reduce their manufacturing output in response to lower demand for their products
in economic downturns or shortages of component parts. A decrease in vendor output may have a materially adverse
effect on our ability to purchase a quantity of new revenue equipment that is sufficient to sustain our desired growth rate
and to maintain a late-model fleet. Moreover, an inability to obtain an adequate supply of new tractors or trailers could
have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may not be successful in maintaining and improving profitability.

We reported a net loss in 2019 of $4.7 million and our operations need to show improvement to achieve consistent
profitability. Maintaining and improving profitability depends upon numerous factors, including the ability to increase
average base revenue per tractor, increase utilization, improve driver retention, and control operating expenses. We may
not be able to maintain or improve profitability in the future, which could negatively impact our liquidity and financial
position.

We may not be successful in implementing our realigned management team’s operating procedures, and cost savings
initiatives.

We have implemented changes to certain of our operating procedures. These changes may not be successful or may
not achieve the desired results. Additional training or different personnel may be required, which may result in additional
expense, delays in obtaining results, or disruptions to operations. Some of these implemented changes include customer
service and driver management changes and cost savings initiatives. These changes and initiatives may not improve our
results of operations, including asset productivity, tractor utilization, driver retention and base revenue per tractor. In
addition, we may not be successful in achieving the expected savings in our cost structure, including the areas of equipment
maintenance, equipment operating costs, insurance and claims and fuel economy. In such event, our revenue, financial
results, and ability to operate profitably could be negatively impacted. Further, our operating results could be negatively
affected by a failure to further penetrate our existing customer base, cross-sell our services, pursue new customer
opportunities, and manage the operations and expenses of our USAT Logistics segment. There is no assurance we will
achieve our goals. If we are unsuccessful, our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be adversely
affected.

Management and key employee turnover or failure to attract and retain qualified management and other key personnel,
could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We depend on the leadership and expertise of our executive management team and other key personnel to design
and execute our strategic and operating plans, including our current efforts to improve the profitability of our Trucking
and USAT Logistics segments. While we have employment agreements in place with certain members of our management
team, there can be no assurance we will continue to retain their services and we may become subject to significant
severance payments if our relationship with such members is terminated under certain circumstances. Further, turnover,
planned or otherwise, in key leadership positions could adversely impact our ability to manage our business efficiently
and effectively, and such turnover can be disruptive and distracting to management and employees, may lead to additional
departures of existing personnel, and could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. We must recruit,
develop and retain a core group of leaders to realize our goal of expanding our operations, improving our earnings
consistency, and positioning ourselves for long-term operating revenue growth and profitability.
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Increases in driver compensation or difficulties attracting and retaining qualified drivers could have a materially
adverse effect on our profitability and the ability to maintain or grow our fleet.

Like many truckload carriers, we experience substantial difficulty in attracting and retaining sufficient numbers of
qualified drivers, which includes the engagement of independent contractors. The truckload industry is subject to a
shortage of qualified drivers. Such shortage is exacerbated during periods of economic expansion, in which alternative
employment opportunities, such as those in the construction and manufacturing industries, are more plentiful and freight
demand increases, or during periods of economic downturns, in which unemployment benefits might be extended and
financing is limited for independent contractors who seek to purchase equipment or for students who seek financial aid for
driving school. Regulatory requirements, including those related to safety ratings, ELDs and HOS changes, and an
improved economy could further reduce the number of eligible drivers or force us to increase driver compensation to
attract and retain drivers. We have seen evidence that stricter HOS regulations adopted by the DOT in the past have
tightened and, to the extent new regulations are enacted, may continue to tighten, the market for eligible drivers. We
believe the required implementation and enforcement of ELDs may further tighten such market. The lack of adequate
tractor parking along some highways and congestion caused by inadequate highway funding may make it more difficult
for drivers to comply with HOS regulations and cause added stress for drivers, further reducing the pool of eligible drivers.
We believe the shortage of qualified drivers and intense competition for drivers from other trucking companies will create
difficulties in maintaining or increasing the number of our drivers and may restrain our ability to engage a sufficient
number of drivers and independent contractors, and our inability to do so could negatively impact our operations. Further,
the compensation we offer our drivers and independent contractor expenses is subject to market conditions, and we may
find it necessary to increase driver compensation and/or independent contractor rates in future periods.

In addition, we and many other truckload carriers suffer from a high turnover rate of drivers and independent
contractors. This high turnover rate requires us to continually recruit a substantial number of drivers and independent
contractors and to focus on alternative recruitment methods in order to operate existing revenue equipment. If we are
unable to continue to attract and retain a sufficient number of drivers and independent contractors, we could be forced to,
among other things, adjust our compensation packages, operate with fewer tractors, or increase the number of tractors
without drivers and face difficulty meeting shipper demands, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our
results of operations.

Our engagement of independent contractors to provide a portion of our capacity exposes us to different risks than we
face with our tractors driven by company drivers.

Pursuant to our fuel surcharge program with independent contractors, we pay independent contractors a fuel
surcharge that increases with the increase in fuel prices. A significant increase or rapid fluctuation in fuel prices could
cause our costs under this program to be higher than the revenue we receive under our customer fuel surcharge programs.

Our independent contractor agreements are governed by the federal leasing regulations, which impose specific
requirements on us and the independent contractors. If more stringent federal leasing regulations are adopted, independent
contractors could be deterred from becoming independent contractor drivers, which could materially adversely affect our
goal of growing our number of independent contractors.

Independent contractors are third-party service providers, as compared with company drivers, who are our
employees. As independent business owners, they may make business or personal decisions that may conflict with our
best interests. For example, if a load is unprofitable, route distance is too far from home, personal scheduling conflicts
arise, or for other reasons, independent contractors may deny loads of freight from time to time. Additionally, independent
contractors may be unable to obtain or retain equipment financing, which could affect their ability to continue to act as a
third-party service provider for the Company. In these circumstances, we must be able to deliver the freight timely in
order to maintain relationships with customers, and if we fail to meet certain customer needs or incur increased expenses
to do so, this could materially adversely affect our results of operations.
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If the independent contractors we contract with are deemed by regulators or judicial process to be employees, there
could be a materially adverse effect on our results of operations.

The use of independent contractors in the trucking industry has been challenged by tax and other regulatory
authorities and has been the subject of class action lawsuits brought by current and former independent contractors who
work, or have worked, in the industry. In general, the regulatory efforts and litigation center around the view that
independent contractor drivers in the trucking industry are employees rather than independent contractors. In some cases
the targeted companies have used a lease-purchase independent contractor agreement, which may make a company more
susceptible to the claims. The regulatory efforts have occurred on the state and in some cases on a federal level. The
factors that determine independent contractor versus employee status vary depending on the jurisdiction and the particular
statute or law involved. The regulatory effort and litigation include efforts to treat the independent contractors of trucking
companies, such as ours, as employees for purposes of workers’ compensation, unemployment compensation, income
taxes, minimum wage and overtime claims, expense reimbursement, meal and rest periods, employee benefits (health care,
retirement, and other benefits), and other employment-related claims. This issue may also arise in some tort cases. In
some cases, claimants have been successful in securing large settlements or have prevailed in their claims that the
independent contractors are employees.

Federal legislators continue to introduce legislation concerning the classification of independent contractors as
employees, including legislation that proposes to increase the tax and labor penalties against employers who intentionally
or unintentionally misclassify employees as independent contractors and are found to have violated employee overtime or
wage requirements. Additionally, federal legislators have sought to (i) abolish the current safe harbor allowing taxpayers
meeting certain criteria to treat individuals as independent contractors if they are following a long-standing, recognized
practice, (ii) extend the Fair Labor Standards Act to independent contractors, and (iii) impose notice requirements based
upon employment or independent contractor status and fines for failure to comply. Some states have adopted initiatives
to increase their revenues from items such as unemployment, workers’ compensation, and income taxes, and the Company
believes a reclassification of independent contractor drivers as employees would help states with this initiative.

If the independent contractors the Company engages were determined to be its employees, it would incur additional
exposure under federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment, and tort laws,
which could potentially include prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits and tax withholdings.

If independent contractors we contract with or have contracted with are determined to be employees, we would
incur additional exposure under federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment,
and tort laws, including for prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits and tax withholdings.

Developments in labor and employment law and any unionizing efforts by employees could have a materially adverse
effect on our results of operations.

We face the risk that Congress, federal agencies, or one or more states could approve legislation or regulations
significantly affecting our businesses and our relationship with our employees, such as the previously proposed federal
legislation referred to as the Employee Free Choice Act, which would have substantially liberalized the procedures for
union organization. None of our domestic employees are currently covered by a collective bargaining agreement, but any
attempt by our employees to organize a labor union could result in increased legal and other associated costs. Additionally,
given the NLRB’s “speedy election” rule, our ability to timely and effectively address any unionizing efforts would be
difficult. If we entered into a collective bargaining agreement with our domestic employees, the terms could materially
adversely affect our costs, efficiency, and ability to generate acceptable returns on the affected operations.

The growth of our asset-light service offering poses unique risks.

We are continuing to implement our plan to increase the proportion of our revenue obtained from our “asset-light
operations,” which primarily represents our USAT Logistics segment and the independent contractors we engage.
Execution of this plan involves the risk of customer loss or deterioration if either our Trucking or USAT Logistics
operations creates a customer issue that impacts the other where we have customer overlap, decreased utilization of
Company equipment if loads with desirable profitability and lanes are allocated to third parties, growth impediments given
our need to rely on third-party providers and an independent contractor market that is contracting and subject to litigation
and regulatory risks, and competitive pressures from other asset-light companies with greater financial, personnel, and
technological resources. If we are unsuccessful in achieving this, it may have a materially adverse effect on our future
results of operations.
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Our USAT Logistics segment and our engagement of independent contractors are dependent upon the services of
third-party capacity providers, including other truckload carriers. For these operations, we do not own or control the
transportation assets that deliver our customers’ freight, and do not employ the people directly involved in delivering the
freight. These third-party providers may seek other freight opportunities or may require increased compensation in times
of improved freight demand or tight trucking capacity. Our inability to secure the services of these third parties could
significantly limit our ability to serve our customers on competitive terms. Additionally, if we are unable to secure
sufficient equipment or other transportation services to meet our commitments to our customers or provide services on
competitive terms, our operating results could be materially and adversely affected. Our ability to secure sufficient
equipment or other transportation services is affected by many risks beyond our control, including equipment shortages in
the transportation industry, particularly among contracted truckload carriers, interruptions in service due to labor disputes,
changes in regulations impacting transportation, and changes in transportation rates. Further, we believe that the recently
effective ELD mandate may cause a decrease in third party transportation capacity and make securing such capacity more
difficult and/or expensive.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from our major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have
a materially adverse effect on our business.

We generate a significant portion of our operating revenue from our major customers. A substantial portion of our
freight is from customers in the retail industry. As such, our volumes are largely dependent on consumer spending and
retail sales, and our results may be more susceptible to trends in unemployment and retail sales than carriers that do not
have this concentration. In addition, our major customers engage in bid processes and other activities periodically
(including currently) in an attempt to lower their costs of transportation. We may not choose to participate in these bids
or, if we participate, may not be awarded the freight, either of which circumstances could result in a loss of some or all of
our freight volumes with these customers. In this event, we could be required to replace the volumes elsewhere at uncertain
rates and volumes, suffer reduced equipment utilization, or reduce the size of our fleet. Additionally, USAT Logistics is
dependent upon a single customer for more than 10% of its operating revenue. Failure to retain our existing customers, or
enter into relationships with new customers, each on acceptable terms, could materially impact our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and ability to meet our current and long-term financial forecasts.

Economic conditions and capital markets may materially adversely affect our customers and their ability to remain
solvent. Our customers’ financial difficulties can negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition and
our ability to comply with the covenants under our debt agreements, especially if they were to delay or default on payments
owed to us. Generally, we do not have contractual relationships that guarantee any minimum volumes with our customers,
and we cannot provide assurance that our customer relationships will continue as presently in effect. Our dedicated service
offering is typically subject to longer term written contracts than our over-the-road service offering. However, certain of
these contracts contain cancellation clauses, including our “evergreen” contracts, which automatically renew for one-year
terms but that can be terminated more easily. There is no assurance that any of our customers, including our dedicated
customers, will continue to utilize our services, renew our existing contracts, or continue at the same volume levels.
Despite the existence of contractual arrangements with our customers, certain of our customers may nonetheless engage
in competitive bidding processes that could negatively impact our contractual relationship. In addition, certain of our
major customers may increasingly use their own truckload and delivery fleets, which would reduce our freight volumes.
A reduction in or termination of our services by one or more of our major customers, including our dedicated customers,
could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We operate in a highly regulated industry, and changes in existing regulations or violations of existing or future
regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations.

We operate in the United States pursuant to operating authority granted by the DOT, in various Canadian provinces
pursuant to operating authority granted by the Ministries of Transportation and Communications, and our Mexican
business activities are subject to operating authority granted by Secretaria de Comunicaciones y Transportes. Company
drivers and independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those
relating to drug and alcohol testing, driver safety performance, and HOS. Matters such as weight, electronic on-board
reporting, equipment dimensions, exhaust emissions, and fuel efficiency are also subject to government regulations. We
also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to fuel efficiency, exhaust emissions, HOS,
ergonomics, drug and alcohol testing, electronic on-board reporting of operations, collective bargaining, security at ports,
speed limiters, driver training, and other matters affecting safety or operating methods. Future laws and regulations may
be more stringent, require changes in our operating practices, influence the demand for transportation services, or require
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us to incur significant additional costs. Higher costs we incur, or higher costs incurred by suppliers who pass the costs on
to us, could have a materially adverse effect our results of operations. Changes in regulations, such as those related to
trailer size and gross vehicle weight limits, HOS, drug and alcohol testing, and ELDs, could increase capacity in the
industry or improve the position of certain competitors, either of which could negatively impact pricing and volumes, or
require additional investments by us. The short and long term impacts of changes in legislation or regulations are difficult
to predict and could materially adversely affect our operations. The Environmental and Other Regulation sections in Item
1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K discusses several proposed, pending, suspended, and final regulations that
could materially impact our business and operations and is incorporated by reference herein.

The CSA program adopted by FMCSA could adversely affect our results of operations, our ability to maintain or grow
our fleet, and our customer relationships.

Under the CSA, fleets are evaluated and ranked against their peers based on certain safety-related standards. As a
result, our fleet could be ranked poorly as compared to peer carriers. We recruit and retain first-time drivers to be part of
our driver team, and these drivers may have a higher likelihood of creating adverse safety events under the CSA. The
occurrence of future deficiencies could affect driver recruitment by causing high-quality drivers to seek employment with
other carriers or limit the pool of drivers we are comfortable hiring or could cause our customers to direct their business
away from us and to carriers with higher fleet safety rankings, any of which would adversely affect our results of
operations. Additionally, competition for drivers with favorable safety backgrounds may increase, which could necessitate
increases in driver-related compensation costs. Further, we may incur greater than expected expenses in our attempts to
improve unfavorable scores or mandate FMSCA to restore public access to scores.

In December 2015, Congress passed the FAST Act, which calls for significant CSA reform. The FAST Act directs
FMCSA to conduct studies of the scoring system used to generate CSA rankings to determine if it is effective in identifying
high-risk carriers and predicting future crash risk. This study was conducted and delivered to FMCSA in June 2017 with
several recommendations to make the CSA program more fair, accurate, and reliable. In August 2018, FMCSA reported
to Congress the proposed changes it intends to make to the CSA program. These proposed changes are discussed in this
Form 10-K under the heading “Business - Other Regulation” and are incorporated by reference herein. Insofar as any of
these changes increase the likelihood of us receiving unfavorable scores or mandate FMSCA to restore public access to
scores, it could adversely affect our results of operations and profitability.

We are compliant with the currently established intervention thresholds in a number of the seven CSA safety-related
categories. Based on any category that exceed the established threshold, we may be prioritized for an intervention action
or roadside inspection, either of which could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition,
customers may be less likely to assign loads to us and our insurance costs could increase. We have put procedures in place
in an attempt to address arecas where we exceed thresholds, and have experienced improvement in these measures.
However, we cannot assure you these measures will be effective.

Receipt of an unfavorable DOT safety rating could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations.

We currently have a satisfactory DOT rating, which is the highest available rating under the current safety rating
scale. If we were to receive a conditional or unsatisfactory DOT safety rating, or similar rating under any future DOT
rating system, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations as our
customers may require a satisfactory DOT safety rating, and a conditional or unsatisfactory rating could materially
adversely affect or restrict our operations. The Other Regulation section in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K discusses several proposed, pending, suspended, and final regulations that could materially impact our business and
operations and is incorporated by reference herein.

Compliance with various environmental laws and regulations that our operations are subject may increase our costs of
operations and non-compliance with such laws and regulations could result in substantial fines or penalties.

In addition to direct regulation under the DOT and related agencies, we are subject to various environmental laws
and regulations dealing with the hauling and handling of hazardous materials, fuel storage tanks, fuel spills, exhaust
emissions from our vehicles and facilities, and discharge and retention of storm water. Our truck terminals often are
located in industrial areas where groundwater or other forms of environmental contamination may have occurred or could
occur. Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental damage, and hazardous waste disposal,
among others. One of our Trucking facilities has above-ground bulk fuel storage tanks on the premises. A small
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percentage of our freight consists of low-grade hazardous substances, which subjects us to a wide array of regulations.
Although we have instituted programs to monitor and control environmental risks and promote compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations, if we are involved in a spill or other accident involving hazardous substances, if there
are releases of hazardous substances we transport, if soil or groundwater contamination is found at our facilities or results
from our operations, or if we are found to be in violation of applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to cleanup
costs and liabilities, including substantial fines or penalties or civil and criminal liability, any of which could have a
materially adverse effect on our business and operating results. The Environmental Regulation section in Item 1 of Part I
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K discusses several regulations that could materially impact our business and operations
and is incorporated by reference herein.

If we cannot effectively manage the challenges associated with doing business internationally, our operating revenue
and results of operations may suffer.

A component of our operations is the business we conduct in Mexico, and to a lesser extent Canada, and we are
subject to risks of doing business internationally, including fluctuations in foreign currencies, changes in the economic
strength of Mexico and Canada, difficulties in enforcing contractual obligations and intellectual property rights, burdens
of complying with a wide variety of international and United States export and import laws, and social, political, and
economic instability. We must also comply with applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials. We cannot guarantee
compliance with all applicable laws, and violations could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil or criminal penalties,
competitive or reputational harm, litigation, or regulatory action and other consequences that might adversely affect our
results of operations and our consolidated performance.

In addition, if we are unable to maintain our Free and Secure Trade (“FAST”), Business Alliance for Secure
Commerce (“BASC”), and Customs-Trade Partnership Against Terrorism (“C-TPAT”) status, we may suffer significant
border delays. This could cause our Mexican and Canadian operations to be less efficient than those of competing capacity
providers that operate in Mexico or Canada and have FAST, BASC, and C-TPAT status. We also face additional risks
associated with our foreign operations, including restrictive trade policies and duties, taxes, or government royalties
imposed by the Mexican or Canadian governments. On October 1, 2018, the United States, Canada and Mexico agreed to
a new trade deal, the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (“USMCA”), to replace the North American Free Trade
Agreement. The USMCA passed the House of Representatives on December 19, 2019 and the Senate on January 16,
2020. The trade deal was signed by President Trump on January 29, 2020. It is uncertain how the USMCA will impact
foreign trade and our Mexican operations. These and any other changes in tariffs, retaliatory tariffs or other trade
restrictions could materially adversely affect our international business.

Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risk of litigation by employees, independent contractors, customers, vendors,
government agencies, stockholders, and other parties through private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings,
regulatory actions, and other processes. Recently, trucking companies have been subject to lawsuits, including class action
lawsuits, alleging violations of various federal and state wage and hour laws regarding, among other things, employee
meal breaks, rest periods, overtime eligibility, worker misclassification, and failure to pay for all hours worked. A number
of these lawsuits have resulted in the payment of substantial settlements or damages by the defendants.

The outcome of litigation, particularly class action lawsuits and regulatory actions, is difficult to assess or quantify,
and the magnitude of the potential loss relating to such lawsuits may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. The
cost to defend litigation may also be significant. All claims may not be covered by our insurance, and for covered claims
there can be no assurance that our coverage limits will be adequate to cover all amounts in dispute. To the extent we
experience claims that are uninsured, exceed our coverage limits, involve significant aggregate use of our self-insured
retention amounts, or cause increases in future premiums, the resulting expenses could have a materially adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.

In addition, we may be subject, and have been subject in the past, to litigation resulting from trucking accidents.
The number and severity of litigation claims may be worsened by distracted driving by both truck drivers and other
motorists. These lawsuits have resulted, and may result in the future, in the payment of substantial settlements or damages
and increases of our insurance costs.
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We may not make acquisitions in the future, or if we do, we may not be successful in our acquisition strategy.

While acquisitions have not in the past provided a substantial portion of our growth, in October 2018, we completed
the acquisition of Davis Transfer Company and related entities (the “Davis Acquisition”). Refer to Note 4 of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information about the Davis Acquisition. Any future
acquisitions we undertake could involve the dilutive issuance of equity securities and/or incurring indebtedness or large
one-time expenses. In addition, the Davis Acquisition and any future acquisitions we may consummate involve numerous
risks, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations,
including:

e the acquired businesses may not achieve anticipated revenue, earnings, or cash flows;
e we may assume liabilities that were not disclosed to us or otherwise exceed our estimates;

e we may be unable to integrate acquired businesses successfully, or at all, and may fail to realize anticipated
economic, operational and other benefits in a timely manner or at all, which could result in substantial costs and
delays or other operational, technical, or financial problems;

e transaction costs and acquisition-related integration costs could adversely affect our results of operations in the
period in which such charges are recorded;

e we may incur possible future impairment charges, write-offs, write-downs, or restructuring charges that could
adversely impact our results of operations;

e acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management, and divert our resources;

e we may experience difficulties operating in markets in which we have had no or only limited direct experience;
e we could lose customers, employees, and drivers of an acquired company; and

e we may incur additional indebtedness.

We depend on the proper functioning, availability, and security of our information and communication systems (and
the data contained therein), and a systems failure or unavailability, including those caused by cybersecurity breaches,
could cause a significant disruption to and adversely affect our business.

We depend heavily on the proper functioning, availability, and security of our information and communication
systems, including financial reporting and operating systems, in operating our business. These systems are protected
through physical and software safeguards, but are still vulnerable to fire, storm, flood, power loss, telecommunications
failures, physical or electronic break-ins, ransomware attacks, terrorist attacks, internet failures, computer viruses, and
similar events beyond our control. More sophisticated and frequent cyberattacks in recent years have also increased
security risks associated with information technology systems. We also maintain information security policies to protect
our systems, networks, and other information technology assets (and the data contained therein) from cybersecurity
breaches and threats, such as hackers, malware, ransomware, and viruses; however, such policies cannot ensure the
protection of our systems, networks, and other information technology assets (and the data contained therein). If our
information or communication systems fail, otherwise become unavailable, or experience a cybersecurity breach or threat,
manually performing functions could temporarily impact our ability to manage our fleet efficiently, to respond to
customers’ requests effectively, to maintain billing and other records reliably, to bill for services accurately or in a timely
manner, to communicate internally and with drivers, customers, and vendors, and to prepare financial statements accurately
or in a timely manner. Business interruption insurance may be inadequate to protect us in the event of a catastrophe. Any
system failure, upgrade complication, cybersecurity breach, ransomware attack, or other system disruption could interrupt
or delay operations, damage our reputation, impact our ability to manage our operations and report financial performance,
require the payment of significant amounts to remediate or recover our systems, and cause the loss of customers, any of
which could have a materially adverse effect on existing and future business.
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Our production systems are supported utilizing a hybrid hosting model that includes virtualized on premise servers
and cloud service providers. Production data is replicated to a secondary data center in a separate geographic region,
which protects our information in the event of a significant disaster. This redundant data center allows the data related to
our systems to be recovered following an incident. However, recovery of such data may not immediately restore our
ability to utilize our information systems. In the event such systems are significantly damaged, it could take several days
before our systems are returned to full functionality. Our communication services are provided through a mixture of on
premise, hosted data center, and cloud services. Recovery time is dependent upon the nature of the event and the affected
communication service.

We receive and transmit confidential data with our customers, drivers, vendors, employees, and service providers
in the normal course of business. Despite our implementation of secure transmission techniques, internal data security
measures, training, and monitoring tools, our information and communication systems are vulnerable to cybersecurity
threats and breach attempts from both external and internal sources. Any such breach could result in disruption of
communications with our customers, drivers, vendors, employees, and service providers and improper access to,
misappropriation of, altering, or deleting information in our systems, including customer, driver, vendor, employee, and
service provider information and our proprietary business information. A cybersecurity incident (including a breach) could
damage our business operations and reputation and could cause us to incur costs associated with repairing our systems,
increased security, customer notifications, lost operating revenue, litigation, regulatory action, fines and penalties and
reputational damage.

Seasonality and the impact of weather and other catastrophic events affect our operations and profitability.

Our tractor productivity decreases during the winter season because inclement weather impedes operations, and
some shippers reduce their shipments after the winter holiday season. Revenue can also be adversely affected by inclement
weather and holidays, since revenue is directly related to available working days of shippers. At the same time, operating
expenses increase and fuel efficiency declines because of engine idling and harsh weather creating higher accident
frequency, increased claims, and more frequent or costly equipment repairs. We may also suffer from weather-related or
other unforeseen events such as tornadoes, hurricanes, blizzards, ice storms, floods, fires, earthquakes, explosions or
terrorist attacks. These events may disrupt fuel supplies, increase fuel costs, disrupt freight shipments or routes, affect
regional economies, damage or destroy our assets, or adversely affect the business or financial condition of our customers,
any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations or make our results of operations more
volatile.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile.

The price of our common stock may fluctuate widely, depending upon a number of factors, many of which are
beyond our control. These factors include, among other items: the perceived prospects of our business and our industry
as a whole; differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;
changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections, including such analysts’ outlook on our industry as a whole; actions
or announcements by our competitors; changes in the regulatory environment in which we operate; significant sales or
hedging of shares by a principal stockholder; actions taken by stockholders that may be contrary to the board of director’s
recommendations; and changes in general economic or market conditions. In addition, stock markets generally experience
significant price and volume volatility from time to time which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock
for reasons unrelated to our performance.

We could determine that our goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired, thus recognizing a related loss.

As of December 31, 2019, we had goodwill of $5.2 million and other intangible assets, net of $16.5 million. We
evaluate our goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment. We could recognize impairments in the future, and we
may never realize the full value of our intangible assets. If these events occur, our profitability and financial condition
will suffer.
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Uncertainty relating to piece rate legislation could result in litigation and/or have a materially adverse effect on our
operating results.

The trucking industry has been confronted with a continuous patchwork of laws at the state and local levels, related
to, among other things, employee rest and meal breaks. Further, driver piece rate compensation, which is an industry
standard, has been attacked as not being compliant with state minimum wage laws. Both of these issues are adversely
impacting the Company and motor carrier industry as a whole, with respect to the practical application of the laws; thereby
resulting in additional cost.

In March 2014, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that California state wage and hour laws are not preempted
by federal law. The case was appealed to the Supreme Court of the United States, which in May 2015 refused to review
the case, and accordingly, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals decision stood. However, in December 2018, FMCSA
granted a petition filed by the America Trucking Associations and in doing so determined that federal law does preempt
California’s wage and hour laws, and interstate truck drivers are not subject to such laws and, in May 2019, FMCSA’s
determination was considered binding by the Federal Court for the Central District of California. Despite this, FMCSA’s
decision has been appealed by labor groups and multiple lawsuits have been filed in federal courts seeking to overturn the
decision, and thus it’s uncertain whether it will stand. Other current and future state and local laws, including laws related
to employee meal breaks and rest periods, may also vary significantly from federal law. As a result, we, along with other
companies in the industry, could become subject to an uneven patchwork of laws throughout the U.S. Federal legislation
has been proposed in the past to preempt certain state and local laws; however, passage of such legislation is uncertain. If
federal legislation is not passed, we will either need to comply with the most restrictive state and local laws across our
entire network, or overhaul our management systems to comply with varying state and local laws. Either solution could
result in increased compliance and labor costs, increased driver turnover, increased legal exposure, and decreased
operational efficiency.

The transportation industry is subject to security requirements that could increase our costs of operation.

Because transportation assets continue to be a target of terrorist activities, federal, state and municipal governments
have adopted, and in the future may adopt, security requirements that could increase operating costs and potentially slow
service for businesses, including those in the transportation industry. For example, in the aftermath of the September 11,
2001, terrorist attacks, federal, state and municipal authorities implemented and continue to implement various security
measures, including checkpoints and travel restrictions on large trucks. In addition, the TSA has adopted regulations that
require determination by the TSA that each driver who applies for or renews his license for carrying hazardous materials
is not a security threat. These regulations could reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which could require us to increase
driver compensation, limit fleet growth, or allow trucks to sit idle. These regulations also could complicate the successful
pairing of available equipment with hazardous material shipments, thereby increasing the Company’s response time and
deadhead miles on customer shipments. These requirements are not static, but change periodically as the result of
regulatory and legislative requirements, imposing additional security costs and creating a level of uncertainty for our
operations. Thus, it is possible that these rules or other future security requirements could impose material costs on us or
slow our service to our customers. Moreover, a terrorist attack directed at the Company or other aspects of the
transportation infrastructure could disrupt our operations and adversely impact demand for our services.

Certain provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law could deter acquisition proposals and make it difficult
for a third party to acquire control of the Company.

Provisions in our Restated and Amended Certificate of Incorporation (“Certificate of Incorporation”) may
discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control or changes in our Board of Directors or management that our stockholders
may consider favorable. For example, our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Board of Directors to issue up to
1,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock. Without stockholder approval, our Board of Directors has the authority
to attach special rights, including voting and dividend rights, to this preferred stock, which could make it more difficult
for a third party to acquire the Company. Our Certificate of Incorporation also provides:

e for a classified Board of Directors, whereby directors serve for staggered three-year terms, making it more
difficult for a third party to obtain control of the Board of Directors through a single election;

e that vacancies on the Board of Directors may be filled only by the remaining directors in office, even if only one
director remains in office;
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e that directors may only be removed for “cause” and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a
majority of our outstanding common stock;

e that the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock
is required to approve any merger or consolidation with any other business entity that requires approval of the
stockholders;

e that stockholders can only act by written consent if such consent is signed by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of
our outstanding common stock; and

e that each of the provisions set forth above may only be amended by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our
outstanding common stock.

Our Bylaws also require advance notice of all stockholder proposals, including nominations for election as director,
and provide that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer, the President, or by a majority of the entire Board of Directors. We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions
of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under these provisions, unless prior to the time that anyone
becomes an “interested stockholder” our Board of Directors approves either the “business combination” or transaction
which resulted in a stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, we may not enter into a “business combination” with
that person for three years without special approval, which could discourage a third party from making a takeover offer
and could delay or prevent a change of control. For purposes of Section 203, “interested stockholder” means, generally,
someone owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock during the prior three years, subject to certain exceptions
as described in Section 203. These provisions will apply even if the change may be considered beneficial by some of our
stockholders, and thereby negatively affect the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common
stock. In addition, to the extent that these provisions discourage an acquisition of our Company or other change of control
transaction, they could deprive stockholders of opportunities to realize takeover premiums for their shares of our common
stock.

We face various risks associated with stockholder activists, which may be disruptive to our business.

Activist stockholders have in the past advocated for certain changes at USA Truck and may attempt to gain
representation on or control of our Board of Directors, through a proxy contest or other means, the possibility of which
may create uncertainty regarding our future. These perceived uncertainties may make it more difficult to attract and retain
qualified personnel, raise customer concerns, or cause volatility in the price of our common stock. The presence of such
activist stockholders, a potential proxy contest, or an activist stockholder lawsuit also may create a significant distraction
for our management team and require us to expend significant time and resources, depending on the nature of the activists’
agendas, and could interfere with our ability to execute our strategic initiatives. Although we are not currently aware of
any activist stockholders who own a substantial portion of our stock at this time, we cannot assure you that we will be able
to agree to favorable terms with activist stockholders that might acquire an interest in our Company.

We could become subject to unsolicited takeover proposals, which may be disruptive to our business.

We have in the past been subject to unsolicited takeover proposals and could become subject to such proposals in
the future. Responding to such proposals, exploring the availability of alternative transactions that reflect our full intrinsic
value and instituting legal action in connection therewith has in the past created a significant distraction for our
management team and required us to expend significant time and resources, and we believe any future unsolicited
proposals would cause similar disruptions to our business. Such proposals may disrupt our business by causing uncertainty
among current and potential employees, suppliers, and customers, which could negatively impact our financial condition,
results of operations and strategic initiatives and cause volatility in our stock price. These consequences, alone or in
combination, may have a materially adverse effect on our business. Although, we have entered into a change of
control/severance plan with certain of our officers and members of our management team, the change of control
arrangements may not be adequate to allow us to retain critical employees during a time when a change of control is being
proposed or is imminent.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

26



Item 2. PROPERTIES

USA Truck’s executive offices and headquarters are located on approximately 104 acres in Van Buren, Arkansas.
This facility consists of approximately 117,000 square feet of office space, training and driver facilities, and approximately
30,000 square feet of maintenance space. The headquarters also has approximately 11,000 square feet of warchouse space
and two other structures with approximately 22,000 square feet of office and warehouse space which are currently leased
to a third party. The expense for building and office rent is recorded in the operations and maintenance line item in the
accompanying consolidated statement of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

The Company’s network consists of 19 facilities, including USAT Logistics offices. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company’s facilities were located in or near the following cities:

Driver Dispatch Own or
Trucking facilities: Shop Facilities Office Lease
Van Buren, Arkansas (1) Yes Yes Yes Own
West Memphis, Arkansas Yes Yes Yes Own/Lease (2)
Lakeland, Florida Yes Yes Yes Lease
Carnesville, Georgia Yes Yes Yes Lease
Forest Park, Georgia Yes No No Lease
Morrow, Georgia No Yes No Lease
Valdosta, Georgia Yes Yes Yes Lease
South Holland, Illinois Yes Yes No Lease
Vandalia, Ohio Yes Yes Yes Own
Carlisle, Pennsylvania Yes Yes Yes Lease
Laredo, Texas Yes Yes Yes Own/Lease (3)
USAT Logistics facilities:
Springdale, Arkansas No No Yes Lease
Van Buren, Arkansas (1) Yes Yes Yes Own
Roseville, California No No Yes Lease
Atlanta, Georgia No No Yes Lease
Oak Brook, Illinois No No Yes Lease
Plano, Texas No No Yes Lease
Puyallup, Washington No No Yes Lease
Administrative facilities:
Athens, Georgia No No Yes Lease
Lebanon, Indiana No No Yes Lease

1) Trucking and USAT Logistics facilities located on the same property.
2) USA Truck owns the terminal facility and holds a lease easement relating to less than one acre.

3) USA Truck owns the terminal facility and leases an adjacent six acres for tractor and trailer parking.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

USA Truck is party to routine litigation incidental to its business, primarily involving claims for personal injury and
property damage incurred in the transportation of freight. The Company maintains insurance to cover liabilities in excess
of certain self-insured retention levels. Though it is the opinion of management that these claims are immaterial to the
Company’s long-term financial position, adverse results of one or more of these claims could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements in any given reporting period.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
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PART II

Item S. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

USA Truck’s common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “USAK”. As of
February 10, 2020, there were 910 holders of record (including brokerage firms and other nominees) of USA Truck
common stock.

Repurchase of Equity Securities

As of December 31, 2019, there was no active repurchase authorization under which shares of the Company’s
common stock may be repurchased, and no shares were repurchased during the three months ended December 31, 2019.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not required.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be
read together with the Business section in Part 1, Item 1, as well as the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
footnotes in Part II, Item 8, of this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements as a result of many
factors, including those set forth under Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” Part I “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements,” and elsewhere in this report. These statements are based on current expectations and assumptions
that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed herein. MD&A
summarizes the financial statements from management’s perspective with respect to the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity and other factors that may affect actual results.

The MD&A is organized in the following sections:

Business Overview

Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Business Overview

USA Truck offers a broad range of truckload motor carrier and freight brokerage and logistics services to a
diversified customer base that spans a variety of industries. In the fourth quarter of 2018, USA Truck, Inc. acquired 100%
of the outstanding equity of Davis Transfer Company Inc., a Georgia corporation (“DTC”), Davis Transfer Logistics Inc.
(“DTL”) and B & G Leasing, L.L.C. (“B & G,” and collectively with DTC and DTL, “Davis Transfer Company”). As of
December 31, 2019, our corporate structure included USA Truck, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries: International
Freight Services, Inc. (“IFS”), a Delaware corporation, and Davis Transfer Company. Collectively, B & G, DTC, and
DTL comprise “Davis Transfer Company”.

The Company has two reportable segments: (i) Trucking, consisting of one-way truckload motor carrier services, in
which volumes typically are not contractually committed, and dedicated contract motor carrier services, in which a
combination of equipment and drivers is contractually committed to a particular customer, typically for a duration of at
least one year, subject to certain cancellation rights, and (ii)) USAT Logistics, consisting of freight brokerage, logistics,
and rail intermodal service offerings.

The Trucking segment provides one-way truckload transportation, including dedicated services, of various products,
goods and materials. The Trucking segment primarily uses its own purchased or leased tractors and trailers or capacity
provided by independent contractors to provide services to customers and is commonly referred to as “asset-based”
trucking. The Company’s USAT Logistics services match customer shipments with available equipment of authorized
third-party motor carriers and other service providers. USAT Logistics provides these services to many existing Trucking
customers, many of whom prefer to rely on a single service provider, or a small group of service providers, to provide all
their transportation solutions.
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Revenue for the Company’s Trucking segment is substantially generated by transporting freight for customers, and
is predominantly affected by rates per mile, the number of tractors in operation, and the number of revenue-generating
miles per tractor. The Company also generates revenue through fuel surcharge and ancillary services such as stop-off pay,
loading and unloading activities, tractor and trailer detention, expediting charges, repositioning charges and other similar
services.

Operating expenses fall into two categories: variable and fixed. Variable expenses, or mostly variable expenses,
constitute the majority of the expenses associated with transporting freight for customers, and include driver wages and
benefits, fuel and fuel taxes, payments to independent contractors, operating and maintenance expense and insurance and
claims expense. These expenses vary primarily according to miles operated, but also have controllable components based
on percentage of compensated miles, shop and dispatch efficiency, and safety and claims experience.

Fixed expenses, or mostly fixed expenses, include the capital costs of our assets (depreciation, amortization, rent
and interest), compensation of non-driving employees and portions of insurance and maintenance expenses. These
expenses are partially controllable through management of fleet size and facilities infrastructure, headcount efficiency,
and safety.

Fuel and fuel tax expense can fluctuate significantly with diesel fuel prices. To mitigate the Company’s exposure
to fuel price increases, it recovers from its customers fuel surcharges that historically have recouped a majority of the
increased fuel costs; however, the Company cannot assure the recovery levels experienced in the past will continue in
future periods. Although the Company’s fuel surcharge program mitigates some exposure to rising fuel costs, the
Company continues to have exposure to increasing fuel costs related to deadhead miles, out of route miles, fuel inefficiency
due to engine idle time and other factors, including the extent to which the surcharges paid by customers are insufficient
to compensate for higher fuel costs, particularly in times of rapidly increasing fuel prices. The main factors that affect fuel
surcharge revenue are the price of diesel fuel and the number of loaded miles. The fuel surcharge is billed on a lagging
basis, meaning the Company typically bills customers in the current week based on the previous week’s applicable United
States Department of Energy, or DOE, Diesel Fuel index. Therefore, in times of increasing fuel prices, the Company does
not recover as much in fuel surcharge revenue as it pays for fuel. In periods of declining prices, the opposite is experienced.

The key statistics used to evaluate Trucking segment performance, in each case net of fuel surcharge revenue,
include (i) base revenue per available tractor per week, (ii) base revenue per loaded mile, (iii) loaded miles per available
tractor per week, (iv) deadhead percentage, (v) average loaded miles per trip, (vi) average number of available tractors and
(vii) adjusted operating ratio. In general, the Company’s average miles per available tractor per week, rate per mile and
deadhead percentages are affected by industry-wide freight volumes and industry-wide trucking capacity, which are
mostly beyond the Company’s control. Factors over which the Company has significant control are its sales and marketing
efforts, service levels and operational efficiency.

Unlike the Trucking segment, the USAT Logistics segment is non-asset based and is dependent upon skilled
employees, reliable information systems and qualified third-party capacity providers. The largest expense related to the
USAT Logistics segment is purchased transportation expense. Other operating expenses consist primarily of salaries,
wages and employee benefits. The Company evaluates the financial performance of the USAT Logistics segment by
reviewing gross margin (USAT Logistics operating revenue less purchased transportation expense) and the gross
margin percentage (USAT Logistics operating revenue less purchased transportation expense expressed as a percentage
of USAT Logistics operating revenue). Gross margin can be impacted by the rates charged to customers and the costs of
securing third-party capacity. USAT Logistics often achieves better gross margins during periods of imbalance between
supply and demand than times of balanced supply and demand, although periods of transition to tight capacity also can
compress margins.

We plan to continue our focus on improving results through ongoing network engineering initiatives, pricing
discipline, enhanced partnerships with customers, and improved execution in our day-to-day operations, as well as our
ongoing safety initiatives. By focusing on these key objectives, management believes it will make progress on its goals
of improving the Company’s operating performance and increasing stockholder value.

29



Results of Operations

The following tables summarize the consolidated statements of operations and percentage of consolidated operating
revenue and the percentage change in the dollar amounts of those items compared to prior years.

Base revenue
Fuel surcharge revenue
Operating revenue

Operating expenses
Operating income

Other expenses:
Interest expense
Other, net
Total other expenses, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense

Consolidated net (loss) income

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Adjusted Adjusted Change
Operating Operating Operating Operating in Dollar
Revenue  Ratio (1) Revenue  Ratio (1) Amounts
$ % % $ % Y% Y%
(dollars in thousands)
$ 458,876 87.8 % $ 470,255 88.1 % 2.49)%
63,755 12.2 63,805 11.9 (0.1)
522,631 100.0 534,060 100.0 2.1)
520,316 99.6 99.1 512,841 96.0 95.4 1.5
2,315 0.4 21,219 4.0 (89.1)
6,597 1.3 3,649 0.7 80.8
572 0.1 992 0.2 (42.3)
7,169 1.4 4,641 0.9 54.5
(4,854) 0.9) 16,578 3.1 (129.3)
(156) (0.0) 4,374 0.8 (103.6)
$ (4,698) (0.9% $ 12,204 23 % (138.5)%

1) The adjusted operating ratio calculation for operating expenses is calculated as operating expenses, net of fuel
surcharge revenue and other items, as a percentage of operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge revenue.
Other items in this presentation are restructuring, impairment and other costs (reversals), severance costs
included in salaries, wages and employee benefits, and amortization of acquisition related intangibles. See
Note 13 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, in this Form 10-K, for
additional information regarding these costs. Also note, Adjusted operating ratio is a non-GAAP financial

measure.

See “Consolidated Reconciliations” below for the uses and limitations associated with adjusted

operating ratio, and for reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP financial measures.
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Key Operating Statistics by Segment

December 31,

Trucking: 2019 2018
Operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations) (in thousands) $ 377,093 $ 351,222
Operating (loss) income (1) (in thousands) $ 447) S 11,710
Adjusted operating income (2) (in thousands) $ 1,370 $ 11,810
Operating ratio (3) 100.1 % 96.7
Adjusted operating ratio (4) 99.6 % 96.1
Total miles (5) (in thousands) 175,829 158,982
Deadhead percentage (6) 13.5 % 13.9
Base revenue per loaded mile $ 2.156 $ 2.191
Average number of seated tractors 1,815 1,598
Average number of available tractors (7) 1,943 1,695
Average number of in-service tractors (8) 1,975 1,726
Loaded miles per available tractor per week $ 1,502 $ 1,549
Base revenue per available tractor per week $ 3,238 $ 3,394
Average loaded miles per trip 492 513

USAT Logistics:

Operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations) (in thousands) $ 154,011 $ 190,992
Operating income (1) (in thousands) $ 2,762 $ 9,509
Adjusted operating income (2) (in thousands) $ 2,769 $ 9,684
Gross margin (9) (in thousands) $ 22,892 $ 30,234
Gross margin percentage (10) 14.9 % 15.8
Load count (in thousands) 113.2 112.5

1) Operating (loss) income is calculated by deducting operating expenses (before intersegment eliminations) from
operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations).

2) Adjusted operating income is calculated by deducting operating expenses (before intersegment eliminations)
excluding restructuring, impairment and other costs (reversals), severance costs included in salaries, wages and
employee benefits, and amortization of acquisition related intangibles, net of fuel surcharge revenue from operating
revenue (before intersegment eliminations), net of fuel surcharge revenue.

3) Operating ratio is calculated as operating expenses (before intersegment eliminations) as a percentage of operating
revenue (before intersegment eliminations).

4) Adjusted operating ratio is calculated as operating expenses (before intersegment eliminations) excluding severance
costs included in salaries, wages and employee benefits, restructuring, impairment and other costs (reversals), and
amortization of acquisition related intangibles, net of fuel surcharge revenue, as a percentage of operating revenue
(before intersegment eliminations) excluding fuel surcharge revenue.

5) Total miles include both loaded and empty miles.

6) Deadhead percentage is calculated by dividing empty miles by total miles.

7) Available tractors are a) all Company tractors that are available to be dispatched, including available unseated tractors,
and b) all tractors in the independent contractor fleet.

8) In-service tractors include all of the tractors in the Company fleet (Company-operated tractors) and all the tractors in
the independent contractor fleet.

9) Gross margin is calculated by deducting USAT Logistics purchased transportation expense from USAT Logistics
operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations).

10)  Gross margin percentage is calculated as gross margin divided by USAT Logistics operating revenue (before

intersegment eliminations).
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Consolidated Reconciliations

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation S-K, Item 10(e) and Regulation G, reconciliations of non-GAAP
financial measures to GAAP financial measures have been provided in the tables below for operating ratio:

Adjusted Operating Ratio

December 31,
2019 2018
(dollars in thousands)
Operating revenue $ 522,631 $ 534,060
Less: Fuel surcharge revenue (63,755) (63,805)
Base revenue $ 458,876  $ 470,255
Operating expense 520,316 512,841
Adjusted for:
Severance costs included in salaries, wages, and employee benefits (1) (441) (711)
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and other costs (2) — 639
Amortization of acquisition related intangibles (3) (1,383) (203)
Fuel surcharge revenue (63,755) (63,805)
Adjusted operating expense $ 454737  § 448,761
Operating income $ 2315 $ 21,219
Adjusted operating income $ 4,139 S 21,494
Operating ratio 99.6 % 96.0 %
Adjusted operating ratio 99.1 % 95.4 %
Segment Reconciliations
Trucking Segment December 31,
2019 2018
(dollars in thousands)
Operating revenue $ 375,657  $ 347,729
Intersegment activity 1,436 3,493
Operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations) 377,093 351,222
Less: fuel surcharge revenue (before intersegment eliminations) (49,059) (48,122)
Base revenue $ 328,034 $ 303,100
Operating expense (before intersegment eliminations) $ 377,540  $ 339,512
Adjusted for:
Severance costs included in salaries, wages, and employee benefits (1) (434) (484)
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and other costs (2) — 587
Amortization of acquisition related intangibles (3) (1,383) (203)
Fuel surcharge revenue (49,059) (48,122)
Adjusted operating expense $ 326,664 $ 291,290
Operating (loss) income $ 447) % 11,710
Adjusted operating income $ 1,370  $ 11,810
Operating ratio 100.1 % 96.7 %
Adjusted operating ratio 99.6 % 96.1 %
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USAT Logistics Segment December 31,

2019 2018
(dollars in thousands)
Operating revenue $ 146,974  $ 186,331
Intersegment activity 7,037 4,661
Operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations) 154,011 190,992
Less: fuel surcharge revenue (before intersegment eliminations) (15,532) (16,429)
Base revenue $ 138479  $ 174,563
Operating expense (before intersegment eliminations) $ 151,249  $ 181,483
Adjusted for:
Severance costs included in salaries, wages, and employee benefits (1) 7 (227)
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and other costs (2) — 52
Fuel surcharge revenue (15,532) (16,429)
Adjusted operating expense $ 135,710  $ 164,879
Operating income $ 2,762 $ 9,509
Adjusted operating income $ 2,769 $ 9,684
Operating ratio 98.2 % 95.0 %
Adjusted operating ratio 98.0 % 94.5 %

1) During 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $0.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively, in severance costs
included in the “Salaries, wages and employee benefits” line item. See “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data — Note 13: Restructuring, impairment and other costs” in this Form 10-K for further
discussion.

2) During 2018, the Company reversed $0.6 million in restructuring, impairment and other costs relating to the
closure of the South Holland, Illinois maintenance facility that was reopened during first quarter 2018. See
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 13: Restructuring, impairment and other costs”
in this Form 10-K for further discussion.

3) During 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $1.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in amortization of
acquisition related intangibles. See “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 5: Intangible
assets and goodwill” in this Form 10-K for further discussion.

The Company reports adjusted operating ratio, which is a financial measure that is not prescribed or authorized by
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Adjusted operating ratio, as defined here, is a non-GAAP financial measure, as defined by the SEC. Management
uses adjusted operating ratio as a supplement to the Company’s GAAP results in evaluating certain aspects of its business,
as described below. Adjusted operating ratio is not a substitute for operating margin or any other measure derived solely
from GAAP measures. There are limitations to using non-GAAP measures such as adjusted operating ratio. Although
management believes that adjusted operating ratio can make an evaluation of the Company’s operating performance more
consistent because it removes items that, in management’s opinion, do not reflect its core operating performance, other
companies in the transportation industry may define adjusted operating ratio differently. As a result, it may be difficult to
use adjusted operating ratio or similarly named non-GAAP measures that other companies may use to compare the
performance of those companies to USA Truck’s performance.

Adjusted operating ratio is calculated as operating expenses less restructuring, impairment and other costs
(reversals), severance costs included in salaries, wages and employee benefits, and amortization of acquisition related
intangibles, net of fuel surcharge revenue, as a percentage of operating revenue excluding fuel surcharge revenue.

USA Truck’s chief operating decision-maker focuses on adjusted operating ratio as an indicator of the Company’s
performance from period to period. Management believes fuel surcharge can be volatile and eliminating the impact of
this source of revenue (by netting fuel surcharge revenue against fuel expense) affords a more consistent basis for
comparing results of operations.
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Management believes its presentation of adjusted operating ratio is useful because it provides investors and
securities analysts the same information that the Company uses internally for purposes of assessing its core operating
performance.

Trucking operating revenue

During the year ended December 31,2019, Trucking operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations)
increased 7.4% to $377.1 million, compared to $351.2 million for the same period of 2018. Trucking base revenue
increased 8.2% to $328.0 million, from $303.1 million for the same period in 2018. The positive changes in operating
revenue and base revenue were primarily attributable to an 10.6% increase in total miles and a 13.6% increase in average
seated tractors and a 40 basis point improvement in deadhead percentage, partially offset by a 4.6% decrease in base
revenue per available tractor per week and a 1.6% decrease in base revenue per loaded. The Company is continuing to
refine the network to increase utilization and driver operational efficiency by transforming to a regional operations
structure.

The freight environment proved very challenging during 2019. A seasonally soft market, declining spot rates, and
unrealized bid awards, coupled with increased trucking capacity in the market created an environment where shippers
allocated larger portions of their freight to lower priced carrier options available through the spot market.

Trucking operating (loss) income

For the year ended December 31, 2019, operating loss was $0.4 million compared to a operating income of $11.7
million for the corresponding period in 2018, primarily resulting from the freight market challenges discussed above,
combined with an 11.2% increase in operating expenses, a softening used equipment market, and a competitive driver
market.

USAT Logistics operating revenue

During the year ended December 31, 2019, USAT Logistics operating revenue (before intersegment eliminations)
decreased 19.4% to $154.0 million, from $191.0 million for the same period of 2018, resulting from an approximate 20.0%
decrease in revenue per load, offset by a 16.7% decrease in operating expenses and a 0.6% increase in load count. Overall,
the decrease in operating revenues can be attributed to a challenging 2019 freight environment, marked by increased
trucking capacity, unrealized bid awards and declining spot market rates. Looking ahead, the Company will focus on
increasing volume through strategic relationships with customers and technology partners.

USAT Logistics operating income
USAT Logistics generated operating income of $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, a decrease of

$6.7 million, or 71.0%, compared to $9.5 million for the comparable period in 2018. This change was the result of the
decrease in operating revenue mentioned above, driven by decreased revenue per load and flat load volumes.
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Consolidated Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes the consolidated operating expenses and percentage of consolidated operating
revenue, consolidated base revenue and the percentage increase or decrease in the dollar amounts of those items compared
to the prior year.

Year Ended December 31, %
2019 2018 change
Adjusted Adjusted
Operating  Operating Operating  Operating 2019 to
Revenue Ratio (1) Revenue Ratio (1) 2018
$ % % $ % % %
Operating Expenses: (dollars in thousands)
Salaries, wages and employee benefits $ 136,877 26.2 % 29.7 % (1) $ 130,407 24.4 % 27.6 % (1) 5.0 %
Fuel and fuel taxes 55,096 10.5 (1.9)(1)(2) 55,158 10.3 (1.9)(1)(2)  (0.1)
Depreciation and amortization 37,193 7.1 7.8 (1) 28,324 53 6.0 (1) 31.3
Insurance and claims 27,176 5.2 5.9 23,240 4.4 4.9 16.9
Equipment rent 10,174 2.0 22 10,840 2.0 2.3 (6.1)
Operations and maintenance 33,310 6.4 7.3 33,356 6.3 7.1 0.1)
Purchased transportation 194,629 37.2 42.4 211,132 39.5 449 (7.8)
Operating taxes and licenses 4,843 0.9 1.1 3,814 0.7 0.8 27.0
Communications and utilities 3,488 0.7 0.8 2,849 0.5 0.6 224
Gain on disposal of assets, net (495) (0.1) (0.1) (2,361) 0.4) (0.5) (79.0)
Impairment of assets held for sale 786 0.2 0.2 — — — N/A
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and
other costs — — — (639) (0.1) — (D (100.0)
Other 17,239 3.3 3.7 16,721 3.1 3.6 3.1
Total operating expenses $ 520,316 99.6 % 99.1 % $ 512,841 96.0 % 954 % 1.5 %

1) Adjusted operating ratio is calculated as the applicable operating expense less restructuring, impairment and
other costs (reversals), severance costs included in salaries, wages and employee benefits and amortization of
acquisition related intangibles, net of fuel surcharge revenue, as a percentage of operating revenue excluding
fuel surcharge revenue. See Note 13 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II,
Item 8, in this Form 10-K for additional information regarding these costs and GAAP to non-GAAP
reconciliations above.

2) Calculated as fuel and fuel taxes, net of fuel surcharge revenue.
Salaries, wages and employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employee benefits consist primarily of compensation for all employees. Salaries, wages and
employee benefits are primarily affected by the total number of miles driven by Company drivers, the rate per mile paid
to its Company drivers, employee benefits (including, but not limited to, healthcare and workers’ compensation), and
compensation and benefits paid to non-driver employees. For the year ended December 31, 2019, salaries, wages and
employee benefits expense increased by approximately $6.5 million, or 180 basis points as a percentage of operating
revenue. This change was primarily due to the impact of the Davis Transfer acquisition in the fourth quarter 2018, and a
driver pay increase implemented during the third quarter of 2018. Also, as part of a reduction in force during the fourth
quarter of 2019, headcount in both operating segments was reduced in order to better align the non-driving support staff
with the number of seated tractors. The Company incurred expenses of approximately $0.2 million in implementing the
reduction in force during the fourth quarter of 2019.

Management believes that the market for drivers will remain tight, and as such, expects driver wages and hiring
expenses to continue to increase in order to attract and retain sufficient numbers of qualified drivers to operate the
Company’s fleet. This expense item will also be affected by the percentage of Trucking miles operated by independent
contractors instead of Company employed drivers and the percentage of revenue generated by USAT Logistics, for which
payments are reflected in purchased transportation.
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Fuel and fuel taxes

Fuel and fuel taxes consist primarily of diesel fuel expense for Company-owned tractors and fuel taxes. The primary
factors affecting the Company’s fuel expense are the cost of diesel fuel, the fuel economy of Company equipment, and the
number of miles driven by company drivers. The slight decrease in fuel and fuel taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2019 resulted from a 3.9% decrease in average diesel fuel prices per gallon year over year, as reported by
the DOE, offset by a with a 10.6% increase in total miles for the year ended December 31, 2019 when compared to the
same period in 2018. The primary reason for the increase in total miles was the purchase of Davis Transfer during the
fourth quarter of 2018.

The Company continues to pursue fuel efficiency initiatives, purchasing newer, more fuel-efficient revenue
equipment and implementing focused driver training programs, which have contributed to improvements in our fuel
expense on a cost per Company tractor mile basis. The Company expects to continue managing its idle time and truck
speeds and partnering with customers to align fuel surcharge programs to recover a fair portion of rising fuel costs.
Looking ahead, the Company’s net fuel expense is expected to fluctuate as a percentage of revenue based on factors such
as diesel fuel prices, percentage recovered from fuel surcharge programs, empty mile percentage, the percentage of
revenue generated from independent contractors and the success of fuel efficiency initiatives.

Depreciation and amortization and equipment rent

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment consists primarily of depreciation for Company-owned
tractors and trailers, amortization of revenue equipment financed with finance leases, and amortization of intangible assets.
The primary factors affecting this expense include the number and age of Company-owned tractors and trailers, the
acquisition cost of new equipment and the salvage values and useful lives assigned to the equipment. Equipment rent
expenses are those related to revenue equipment under operating leases. These largely fixed costs fluctuate as a percentage
of base revenue primarily with increases and decreases in average base revenue per tractor and the percentage of base
revenue contributed by Trucking versus USAT Logistics.

In addition, the mix of finance and operating leases will cause fluctuations on a line item basis between equipment
rent expense and depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense increased as a percentage
of both operating and base revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to the same period in 2018, due in
part to the acquisition of Davis Transfer Company in the fourth quarter of 2018 and the increased use of operating leases
for trailers. The decrease in equipment rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was the result of the Company
entering into two sale-leaseback transactions in the first half of 2019 for tractors, paired with increased use of operating
leases for the acquisition of new revenue equipment. Additionally, 2019 was negatively affected by additional depreciation
on certain revenue equipment as a result of deterioration in pricing in the used equipment market.

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives and salvage values of its fixed assets on an ongoing basis, based
upon, among other things, our experience with similar assets, conditions in the used revenue equipment market, and
prevailing industry practice. The Company intends to continue its focus on improving asset utilization, matching customer
demand, growing the independent contractor fleet and strengthening load profitability initiatives. Further, the acquisition
costs of new revenue equipment could increase due to the continued implementation of emissions requirements and the
inclusion of improved safety and fuel efficiency features.

Insurance and claims

Insurance and claims expense consists of insurance premiums and the accruals the Company makes for estimated
payments and expenses for claims for bodily injury, property damage, cargo damage, and other casualty events. The
primary factors affecting the Company’s insurance and claims expense are the number of miles driven by its Company
drivers and independent contractors, the frequency and severity of accidents, trends in the development factors used in the
Company’s actuarial accruals, developments in prior-year claims, and insurance premiums and self-insured amounts. The
increase in insurance and claims expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was due in part to the operations of Davis
Transfer, which was acquired in the fourth quarter of 2018, and to the increased auto liability expenses during the period.
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The Company expects insurance and claims expense to continue to be volatile over the long-term, and in its October
2019 annual renewal experienced a significant rate increase. In addition, insurance carriers have generally raised
premiums for many businesses, including those in the trucking industry, and the industry is experiencing a decline in the
number of carriers and underwriters that offer excess insurance policies or that are willing to provide insurance for trucking
companies, and the necessity to go off-shore for insurance needs has increased. These factors may cause the Company’s
insurance and claims expense to increase if it has a similar experience at renewal or replacement, or the Company could
find it necessary to raise its self-insured retention levels or decrease its aggregate coverage limits.

Operations and maintenance

Operations and maintenance expense consists primarily of vehicle repairs and maintenance, general and
administrative expenses, and other costs. Operating and maintenance expenses are primarily affected by the age of the
Company-owned tractors and trailers, the number of miles driven in a period and, to a lesser extent, by efficiency measures
in the Company’s maintenance facilities. For the year ended December 31, 2019, operations and maintenance expense
was flat in terms of dollars spent, but increased approximately 20 basis points as a percentage of both operating and base
revenue. These changes were the result of maintenance cost savings stemming from the purchase of new revenue
equipment and from efforts to decrease our dependence on outside repairs in more high volume locations.

Purchased transportation

Purchased transportation consists of the payments the Company makes to independent contractors, railroads, and
third-party carriers that haul loads brokered to them, including fuel surcharge reimbursement paid to such parties.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the decrease in purchased transportation expense was due to a softening
spot market. In future periods, the Company is endeavoring to grow its independent contractor fleet as a percentage of its
total fleet and growing USAT Logistics, which, if successful, could further increase purchased transportation expense,
particularly if the Company needs to pay independent contractors more to stay with the Company in light of expected
regulatory changes. In periods of increasing independent contractor capacity, the expected increases in compensation
expense are shifted from employee driver wages and related expenses to the “Purchased transportation” line item, net of
their fuel expense, maintenance and capital expenditures.

Gain on disposal of assets, net

During the year ended December 31, 2019, gain on disposal of assets, net, decreased when compared to the same
periods in 2018, primarily due to the continued fluctuations in the used revenue equipment market. Management believes
the volatility in the used equipment market may continue into 2020 and beyond.

Restructuring, impairment and other costs

See Note 13 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, in this Form 10-K for
information regarding the restructuring, impairment and other costs incurred for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Impairment on assets held for sale

As a result of lower prices received for disposals of our owned used revenue equipment in 2019, the Company
recorded a $0.8 million asset impairment charge to write-down the carrying values of tractors held for sale at
December 31, 2019.

Other expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the increase in other expenses was primarily the result of increased
professional services costs relating to various Company initiatives.
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Consolidated Non-Operating Expenses
Interest expense, net

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the significant increase in interest expense, net was primarily the result of
the Company’s acquisition of Davis Transfer Company in fourth quarter 2018. (see Note 4 — Acquisition of Davis Transfer
Company, and Note 7 — Long-term Debt).

Income tax (benefit) expense

The Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, were 3.2% and
26.4%, respectively. Generally, the Company’s effective tax rate of 21% is primarily affected by state income taxes, net
of federal income tax effect, and permanent differences, the most significant of which is the effect of the partially non-
deductible per diem pay structure for our drivers. The recurring impact of this permanent non-deductible difference
incurred in operating our business causes our tax rate to increase as our pretax earnings or loss approaches zero. Generally,
as pretax income or loss increases, the impact of the driver per diem program on our effective tax rate decreases, because
aggregate per diem pay becomes smaller in relation to pretax income or loss, while in periods where earnings are at or
near breakeven the impact of the per diem program on our effective tax rate is significant.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

USA Truck’s business has required, and will continue to require, significant capital investments. In the Company’s
Trucking segment, where capital investments are the most substantial, the primary investments are in new revenue
equipment and to a lesser extent, in technology and working capital. In the Company’s USAT Logistics segment, the
primary investments are in technology and working capital. USA Truck’s primary sources of liquidity have been funds
provided by operations, borrowings under the Company’s Credit Facility, sales of used revenue equipment, and proceeds
from finance and operating leases. Based on expected financial conditions, net capital expenditures, results of operations
and related net cash flows and other sources of financing, management believes the Company’s sources of liquidity to be
adequate to meet current and projected needs.

The Credit Facility contains a single financial covenant, which requires a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio
of at least 1.0 to 1.0 that is triggered in the event excess availability under the Credit Facility falls below 10% of the
lenders’ total commitments. Also, certain restrictions regarding the Company’s ability to pay dividends, make certain
investments, prepay certain indebtedness, execute share repurchase programs and enter into certain acquisitions and
hedging arrangements are triggered in the event excess availability under the Credit Facility falls below 20% of the lenders’
total commitments. Management believes the Company’s excess availability may fall below 20% and expects the
Company to remain in compliance with the debt covenant during the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had outstanding $7.4 million in letters of credit and had approximately
$55.1 million available to borrow under the Credit Facility. Net of cash, debt represented 70.9% of total capitalization.
Fluctuations in the outstanding balance and related availability under the Credit Facility are driven primarily by cash flows
from operations and the timing and nature of property and equipment additions that are not funded through other sources
of financing, as well as the nature and timing of receipt of proceeds from disposals of property and equipment.
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Cash flows

The following table summarizes the sources (uses) of cash for each of the periods presented:

Cash Flow Year Ended December 31,
Category 2019 2018
Sources of cash: (in thousands)
Operating activities - net Operating $ 43,463 $ 41,263
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment Investing 10,183 10,349
Proceeds from operating sale-leaseback Investing — 5,323
Borrowings under long-term debt Financing 85,600 84,254
Proceeds from obligation under finance lease Financing 12,795 —
Uses of cash:
Acquisition of Davis Transfer Company (net of cash) Investing (305) (51,440)
Capital expenditures Investing (34,675) (15,019)
Payments of long-term debt Financing (102,110) (59,859)
Principal payments on financing lease obligations Financing (14,016) (14,180)
Payments on obligation under finance lease Financing (1,013) —
Other (uses) sources - net Financing (814) 227
(Decrease) increase in cash $ (892) $ 918

Operating activities

Our net cash provided by operating activities in 2019 increased from 2018 primarily due to higher depreciation and
amortization, share-based compensation, and decreases in accounts and other receivables and inventories and prepaid
expenses. These items were offset by decreases in net income and insurance and claims accruals.

Debt and lease obligations

See “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 7: Long-term Debt” and “Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data —Note 8: Leases and Right of Use Assets” in this Form 10-K for a discussion of the
Company’s revolving Credit Facility, finance and operating lease obligations and insurance financing, which is
incorporated by reference herein.

Inflation

Most of the Company’s operating expenses are inflation sensitive, and as such, are not always able to be offset
through increases in revenue per mile and cost control efforts. The effect of inflation-driven cost increases on overall
operating costs is not expected to be greater for USA Truck than for its competitors, and has been minor over the past
two years.

Fuel availability and cost

The trucking industry is dependent upon the availability of fuel. In the past, fuel shortages or increases in fuel taxes
or fuel costs have adversely affected profitability and may continue to do so. USA Truck has not experienced difficulty
in maintaining necessary fuel supplies, and in the past has generally been able to partially offset increases in fuel costs and
fuel taxes through increased freight rates and through a fuel surcharge that increases incrementally as the average price of
fuel increases above an agreed upon baseline price per gallon. Typically, the Company is not able to fully recover increases
in fuel prices through freight rate increases and fuel surcharges, primarily because those items are not available with respect
to empty and out-of-route miles and idling time, for which the Company generally does not receive compensation from
customers. Additionally, most fuel surcharges are based on the average fuel price as published by the DOE for the week
prior to the shipment, meaning the Company typically bills customers in the current week based on the previous week’s
applicable index. Accordingly, in times of increasing fuel prices, the Company does not recover as much as it is currently
paying for fuel. In periods of declining prices, for a short period of time the inverse is true. Overall, the U.S. National
Average Diesel Fuel price decreased by 3.9% for year ended December 31, 2019 when compared to 2018.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any long-term fuel purchase contracts, and has not entered
into any fuel hedging arrangements.
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Equity

As of December 31,2019, USA Truck had total stockholders’ equity of $78.2 million and total debt including
current maturities of $190.6 million, resulting in a total debt, less cash, to total capitalization ratio of 70.9% compared to
66.2% as of December 31, 2018.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. USA Truck bases its assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current
trends and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time its consolidated financial statements are
prepared. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material.

A summary of the significant accounting policies followed in preparation of the Company’s financial statements is
contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 1: Description of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” of this Form 10-K. The most critical accounting policies and estimates that affect the
Company’s financial statements include the following:

Estimated useful lives and salvage values for purposes of depreciating tractors and trailers. USA Truck operates a
significant number of tractors and trailers in connection with its business. The Company may purchase this equipment or
acquire it under leases. Purchased equipment is depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life
down to an estimated salvage or trade-in value. Equipment acquired under financing leases is recorded at the net present
value of the minimum lease payments and is amortized on the straight-line method over the lease term. Depreciable lives
of tractors and trailers range from five years to fourteen years. Salvage value is estimated at the expected date of trade-in
or sale based on the expected market values of equipment at the time of disposal.

Goodwill and other intangibles. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $5.2 million in goodwill and $5.0
million for a trade name. Our indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but subject to annual reviews during the
fourth quarter for impairment at a reporting unit level. The reporting unit or units used to evaluate and measure the
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment are determined primarily from the manner in which the business is
managed or operated. A reporting unit is an operating segment or a component that is one level below an operating
segment. We have assessed the reporting unit definitions and determined that at December 31, 2019, the Trucking
reporting unit is the appropriate reporting unit for testing our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment.

The Company computes the fair value of the reporting unit primarily using the income approach (discounted cash
flow analysis). The computations require management to make significant estimates. Critical estimates used as part of
these evaluations include, among other things, the discount rate applied to future earnings reflecting a weighted average
cost of capital rate, and projected rate per mile assumptions and driver pay assumptions. Our estimate of the future rate
per mile and future asset utilization are critical assumptions used in our discounted cash flow analysis. There were no
impairments of our indefinite-lived intangible assets during 2019 or 2018. In future periods, it is reasonably possible that
a variety of circumstances could result in an impairment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets.

A discounted cash flow analysis requires us to make various judgmental assumptions about revenues, operating ratio,
capital expenditures, working capital and rate per mile. Assumptions of revenue, operating margins, capital expenditures
and rates per mile are based on our budgets, business plans, economic projections, and anticipated future cash flows. In
determining the fair value of our reporting unit, we were required to make significant judgments and estimates regarding
the impact of anticipated economic factors on our business. The forecast used for the period ended December 31, 2019
includes certain assumptions about future rate per mile, utilization and expected capital expenditures. Assumptions are
also made for a “normalized” perpetual growth rate for periods beyond the long range financial forecast period.
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Our estimates of fair value are sensitive to changes in all of these variables, certain of which relate to broader
macroeconomic conditions outside our control. As a result, actual performance in the near and longer-term could be
different from these expectations and assumptions. This could be caused by events such as strategic decisions made in
response to economic and competitive conditions and the impact of economic factors, such as spot rates in the trucking
and logistics industry as well as changes in customer behavior. In addition, some of the inherent estimates and assumptions
used in determining fair value of the reporting unit are outside the control of management, including interest rates, cost of
capital and our credit ratings. While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair
value of the reporting unit and other intangible assets, it is possible a material change could occur.

Estimate of impairment of long lived assets. We review property and equipment for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We evaluate
recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. We evaluate the carrying
values of assets held for sale at the end of each reporting period. We complete this evaluation by comparing the assets
carrying value to its fair value using a market approach. If the carrying value is in excess of the fair value an impairment
is recorded for the difference.

We believe that the accounting estimate related to asset impairment is a critical accounting estimate because: (1) it
requires our management to make assumptions about future revenues over the life of the asset, and (2) the impact that
recognizing an impairment would have on our financial position, as well as our results of operations, could be material.
Management’s assumptions about future revenues require significant judgment because actual revenues have fluctuated
in the past and may continue to do so. In estimating future revenues, we use our internal business forecasts. We develop
our forecasts based on recent revenue data for existing services and other industry and economic factors.

Estimates of accrued liabilities for claims involving bodily injury, physical damage losses, employee health benefits
and workers’ compensation. The primary claims arising against the Company consist of cargo, liability, personal injury,
property damage, workers’ compensation, and employee medical costs. The Company’s insurance programs typically
involve self-insurance with high risk-retention levels. Due to its significant self-insured retention amounts, the Company
has exposure to fluctuations in the number and severity of claims and to variations between its estimated and actual ultimate
payouts. The Company accrues the estimated cost of the uninsured portion of pending claims and an estimate for allocated
loss adjustment expenses including legal and other direct costs associated with a claim. Estimates require judgments
concerning the nature and severity of the claim, historical trends, advice from third-party administrators and insurers, the
size of any potential damage award based on factors such as the specific facts of individual cases, the jurisdictions involved,
the prospect of punitive damages, future medical costs, and inflation estimates of future claims development, and the legal
and other costs to settle or defend the claims. USA Truck records both current and long-term claims accruals at the
estimated ultimate payment amounts based on information such as individual case estimates, historical claims experience
and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported. The current portion of the accrual reflects the anticipated claims
amounts expected to be paid in the next twelve months.

Accounting for income taxes. The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities represent items that will result in
taxable income or tax deductions in future years for which we have already recorded the related tax expense or benefit in
our consolidated income statements. Deferred tax accounts arise as a result of timing differences between when items are
recognized in our consolidated financial statements compared to when they are recognized in our tax returns. Significant
management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and in determining whether deferred tax
assets will be realized in full or in part. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We
periodically assess the likelihood that all or some portion of deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable
income. To the extent we believe the likelihood of recovery is not sufficient, a valuation allowance is established for the
amount determined not to be realizable.

We believe that we have adequately provided for our future tax consequences based upon current facts and

circumstances and current tax law. However, should our tax positions be challenged, different outcomes could result and
have a significant impact on the amounts reported through our consolidated income statements.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

See “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 1: Description of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies”.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not required.
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, together with related notes and the report of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered
public accountants, are set forth on the following pages.

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Audited Financial Statements of USA Truck, Inc.

Report of independent registered public accounting firm 43
Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 44
Consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income for the years ended December 31,

2019 and 2018 45
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 46
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31,2019 and 2018 47
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 48
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
USA Truck, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of USA Truck, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of (loss) income and
comprehensive (loss) income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated February 19, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Change in accounting principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for
leases in the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the adoption of FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842,
Leases.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006.

Tulsa, Oklahoma
February 19, 2020
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USA Truck Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
Assets 2019 2018
Current assets: (in thousands, except share data)
Cash $ 97 § 989
Accouqts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $369 and $575, 49,853 57.189
respectively
Other receivables 5,408 5,688
Inventories 769 722
Assets held for sale 2,542 2,611
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,855 7,675
Total current assets 66,524 74,874
Property and equipment:
Land and structures 33,077 32,434
Revenue equipment 309,573 280,623
Service, office and other equipment 30,235 28,094
Property and equipment, at cost 372,885 341,151
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (124,216) (115,766)
Property and equipment, net 248,669 225,385
Operating leases - right of use assets 11,775 —
Goodwill 5,231 4,926
Other intangibles, net 16,453 17,837
Other assets 2,058 1,003
Total assets $ 350,710 $ 324,025
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 29,421 $ 23,482
Current portion of insurance and claims accruals 12,466 15,852
Accrued expenses 6,518 9,366
Current finance lease obligations 30,779 17,292
Current operating lease obligations 6,050 —
Long-term debt, current maturities 6,165 4,435
Total current liabilities 91,399 70,427
Deferred gain 80 84
Long-term debt, less current maturities 83,349 85,300
Long-term finance lease obligations 58,397 53,460
Long-term operating lease obligations 5,812 —
Deferred income taxes 24,017 23,518
Insurance and claims accruals, less current portion 9,445 9,963
Total liabilities 272,499 242,752
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Common Stock, $0.01 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized; issued 11,987,572 120 120
shares, and 12,011,495 shares, respectively
Additional paid-in capital 63,238 66,433
Retained earnings 73,769 78,467
Less treasury stock, at cost (3,434,231 shares, and 3,650,060 shares, respectively) (58,916) (63,747)
Total stockholders’ equity 78,211 81,273
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 350,710 $ 324,025

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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USA Truck Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (LOSS) INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018
(in thousands, except per share data)
Operating revenue $ 522,631 $ 534,060
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 136,877 130,407
Fuel and fuel taxes 55,096 55,158
Depreciation and amortization 37,193 28,324
Insurance and claims 27,176 23,240
Equipment rent 10,174 10,840
Operations and maintenance 33,310 33,356
Purchased transportation 194,629 211,132
Operating taxes and licenses 4,843 3,814
Communications and utilities 3,488 2,849
Gain on disposal of assets, net (495) (2,361)
Impairment of assets held for sale 786 —
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and other costs — (639)
Other 17,239 16,721
Total operating expenses 520,316 512,841
Operating income 2,315 21,219
Other expenses:
Interest expense, net 6,597 3,649
Other, net 572 992
Total other expenses, net 7,169 4,641
(Loss) income before income taxes (4,854) 16,578
Income tax (benefit) expense (156) 4,374
Consolidated net (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income $ (4,698) $ 12,204
Net (loss) earnings per share:
Average shares outstanding (basic) 8,525 8,194
Basic (loss) earnings per share $ (0.55 $ 1.49
Average shares outstanding (diluted) 8,525 8,218
Diluted (loss) earnings per share $ (0.55) % 1.49

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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USA Truck Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 2017
Issuance of treasury stock
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of shares for acquisition
Forfeited restricted stock
Net share settlement related to restricted stock vesting
Net income
Balance at December 31, 2018, as originally filed
Correction of error (Note 14)
Balance at December 31, 2018, as revised
Issuance of treasury stock
Stock-based compensation
Forfeited restricted stock
Net share settlement related to restricted stock vesting
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2019

(in thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Par Paid-in Retained Treasury
Shares Value Capital Earnings Stock Total
12,142 § 121 §$ 68,667 §$65460 §(67,760) $ 66,488
— — (4,013) — 4,013 —
— — 1,164 — — 1,164
— — 750 — — 750
(128) (1) 1 — — —
2) — (136) — — (136)
— — — 12,204 — 12,204
12,012 120 66,433 77,664 (63,747) 80,470
— — — 803 — 803
12,012 120 66,433 78,467 (63,747) 81,273
— — (4831 — 4,831 —
— — 1,714 — — 1,714
(18) — — — —
(6) — (78) — — (78)
— — (4,698) —  (4,698)
11,988 § 120 $63,238 §73,769 §(58,916) §78,211

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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USA Truck Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Operating activities: (in thousands)
Net (loss) income $ (4,698) $ 12,204
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 37,193 28,324
Provision for doubtful accounts (145) 480
Deferred income tax, net 499 2,382
Share-based compensation 1,714 1,164
Gain on disposal of assets, net (495) (2,361)
Impairment of assets held for sale 786 —
Reversal of restructuring, impairment and other costs — (639)
Other 83 (205)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and other receivables 7,761 2,771
Inventories and prepaid expenses 4,818 (426)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 186 (3,447)
Insurance and claims accruals (3,184) 571
Other long-term assets and liabilities (1,055) 445
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 43,463 § 41,263
Investing activities:
Acquisition of Davis Transfer Company (net of cash) (305) (51,440)
Capital expenditures (34,675) (15,019)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 10,183 10,349
Proceeds from operating sale-leaseback — 5,323
Net cash used in investing activities $ (24,797) $ (50,787)
Financing activities:
Borrowings under long-term debt 85,600 84,254
Payments on long-term debt (102,110) (59,859)
Principal payments on financing lease obligations (14,016) (14,180)
Proceeds from obligation under finance lease 12,795 —
Payments on obligation under finance lease (1,013) —
Payment of debt issuance costs (538) —
Net change in bank drafts payable (198) 363
Net payments for tax withholdings for vested stock-based awards (78) (136)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities $ (19,558) $ 10,442
(Decrease) increase in cash (892) 918
Cash:
Beginning of period 989 71
End of period $ 97 § 989
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 6,357 $ 3,719
Income taxes 1,232 3,651
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing:
Sales of revenue equipment included in accounts receivable $ — 3 1,851
Purchase of revenue equipment included in accounts payable 3,019 —
Liability incurred for finance leases on revenue equipment 32,440 42,788

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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USA Truck Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of business

USA Truck Inc., a Delaware corporation and subsidiaries (together, the “Company”), is headquartered in Van Buren,
Arkansas. The Company transports freight throughout the contiguous United States, into and out of portions of Canada,
and into and out of Mexico by offering through-trailer service from our terminal in Laredo, Texas. The Company has two
reportable segments: (i) Trucking, consisting of the Company’s truckload and dedicated freight service offerings, and
(i) USAT Logistics, consisting of the Company’s freight brokerage, logistics, and rail intermodal service offerings.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of USA Truck Inc., and
present our financial position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the results of our operations, comprehensive (loss)
income and cash flows for the years ended 2019 and 2018. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), and include all adjustments necessary
for the fair presentation of the periods presented.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include USA Truck Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries:
International Freight Services, Inc. (“IFS”), a Delaware corporation; Davis Transfer Company Inc. (“DTC”), a Georgia
corporation, Davis Transfer Logistics Inc. (“DTL”), a Georgia corporation, and B & G Leasing, L.L.C. (“B & G”), a
Georgia limited liability company. Collectively, B & G, DTC, and DTL comprise “Davis Transfer Company”. References
in this report to “it,” “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company,” and similar expressions refer to USA Truck Inc. and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Certain amounts reported in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year

presentation.
Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Management evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors
which management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. As future events and their effects cannot be
determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these estimates.

Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when
acquired.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is management’s estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the
Company’s existing accounts receivable. Management reviews the financial condition of customers for granting credit
and determines the allowance based on analysis of individual customers’ financial condition, historical write-off
experience and national economic conditions. The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts
quarterly. The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers.
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The following table provides a summary of the activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
(in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year $ 575§ 639
Provision for doubtful accounts (145) 480
Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recovery (61) (544)
Balance at end of year $ 369§ 575

Assets held for sale

When we plan to dispose of property by sale, the asset is carried in the financial statements at the lower of the
carrying amount or estimated fair value, less cost to sell, and is reclassified to assets held for sale. Additionally, after such
reclassification, there is no further depreciation taken on the asset. In order for an asset to be classified as held for sale,
management must approve and commit to a formal plan of disposition, the sale must be anticipated during the ensuing year,
the asset must be actively marketed, available for immediate sale, and meet certain other specified criteria. The Company
recorded a charge of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to reduce assets held for sale to estimated fair
value, less cost to sell.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is evaluated for impairment periodically. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually during the
fourth quarter, or more often if events or circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. The reporting unit or
units used to evaluate and measure goodwill for impairment are determined primarily from the manner in which the
business is managed or operated. A reporting unit is an operating segment or a component that is one level below an
operating segment. There were no impairments of goodwill during 2019 or 2018.

Intangibles

Intangibles include a trade name, non-compete agreement and customer relationships. The non-compete agreement
and customer relationships are subject to amortization and are both amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives. We periodically evaluate amortizable intangible assets for impairment upon occurrence of events or changes in
circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of intangible assets may not be recoverable (see Note 5 — Intangible Assets
and Goodwill).

Treasury stock

The Company uses the cost method to record treasury stock purchases whereby the entire cost of the acquired shares
of our common stock is recorded as treasury stock (at cost). When the Company subsequently reissues these shares,
proceeds in excess of cost upon the issuance of treasury shares are credited to additional paid in capital, while any
deficiency is charged to additional paid in capital. The Company recorded charges to additional paid in capital of $4.8
million and $4.0 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During 2019, these
charges were for the issuance of shares awarded as equity grants. During 2018, these charges were for the issuing of shares
awarded as equity grants and for approximately $0.75 million used in our acquisition of Davis Transfer Company (see
Note 4 — Acquisition of Davis Transfer Company).

(Loss) earnings per share data

The Company calculates basic (loss) earnings per share based on the weighted average number of its common shares
outstanding for the applicable period. The Company calculates diluted earnings per share based on the weighted average
number of its common shares outstanding for the period plus all potentially dilutive securities using the treasury stock
method, whereby the Company assumes that all such shares are converted into common shares at the beginning of the
period, if deemed to be dilutive. If the Company incurs a loss from continuing operations, the effect of potentially dilutive
common stock equivalents are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would be
anti-dilutive. Performance shares are excluded from contingent shares for purposes of calculating diluted weighted
average shares until the performance measure criteria is probable and shares are likely to be issued.
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Dividend policy

The Company has not paid any dividends on its common stock to date, and does not anticipate paying any dividends
at the present time. The Company currently intends to retain all of its earnings, if any, for use in the expansion and
development of its business and reduction of debt. In the event the financial covenant is applicable under the Company’s
Credit Facility, restrictions may be placed on our ability to pay dividends. Future payments of dividends will depend upon
the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, capital commitments, restrictions under then-existing
agreements, legal requirements, and other factors the Company deems relevant.

Inventories

Inventories consist of tires and parts, and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on a first-in first-out
basis.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is capitalized in accordance with the Company’s asset capitalization policy. The capitalized
property is depreciated by the straight-line method using the following estimated useful lives: structures — 15 years to 40
years; revenue equipment — 5 to 14 years; and service, office and other equipment — 3 to 10 years. We capitalize tires
placed in service on new revenue equipment as part of the equipment cost. Replacement tires and recapping costs are
expensed as incurred.

Depreciable lives and salvage value of assets; valuation of long-lived assets

We review the appropriateness of depreciable lives and salvage values for each category of property and equipment.
These studies utilize models, which take into account actual usage, physical wear and tear, and replacement history to
calculate remaining life of our asset base. We also make assumptions regarding future conditions in determining potential
salvage values. These assumptions impact the amount of depreciation expense recognized in the period and any gain or
loss once the asset is disposed. Actual disposition values may be greater or less than expected due to the length of time
before disposition.

We review property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We evaluate recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing
the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered
to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets, less cost to sell. The Company performed the impairment analysis of the carrying
value of its fleet, which is the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. Our analysis of undiscounted cash flows indicated
no impairment existed for long-lived assets at December 31, 2019 or 2018.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial
statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between
the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. The Company has analyzed filing positions in its federal and applicable state tax
returns in all open tax years. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest
expense and penalties as operating expenses. The Company analyzes its tax positions on the basis of a two-step process
in which (1) it determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the
technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, it
recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with
the related tax authority. The Company believes that its income tax filing positions and deductions will be sustained on
audit and does not anticipate any adjustments that will result in a material change to its consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. Therefore, no reserves for uncertain income tax positions or associated interest or
penalties on uncertain tax positions have been recorded.
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Claims accruals

The primary claims arising against the Company consist of cargo loss and damage, liability, personal injury, property
damage, workers’ compensation, and employee medical expenses. The Company has exposure to fluctuations in the
frequency and severity of claims and to variations between its estimated and actual ultimate payouts up to the Company’s
self-insured retention level. Estimates require judgments concerning the nature and severity of the claim, as well as other
factors. Actual settlement of the self-insured claim liabilities could differ from management’s initial assessment due to
uncertainties and fact development.

Restricted stock

Restricted stock cannot be sold by the recipient until its restrictions have lapsed. The Company recognizes
compensation expense related to these awards over the vesting periods based on the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the grant dates. If these awards contain performance criteria the grant date fair value is set assuming
performance at target, which is the expected level of achievement, and management periodically reviews actual
performance against the criteria and adjusts compensation expense accordingly. These shares are considered issued and
outstanding under the terms of the respective restricted stock agreements.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based upon consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Company recognizes
revenue when contractual performance obligations are satisfied by transferring the benefit of the service to our customer.
The benefit is transferred to the customer as the service is being provided and revenue is recognized accordingly via time
based metrics. A corresponding contract asset of $0.9 million and $1.1 million was recorded in the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, in the “Accounts receivable” line item. The Company is entitled to receive
payment as it satisfies performance obligations with customers. The amount of remaining performance obligations relating
to loads in process at 11:59 pm as of the end of each reporting period was deemed to be immaterial. Our business consists
of two reportable segments, Trucking and USAT Logistics (see Note 2 — Segment Reporting).

Disaggregation of revenue

The Company’s revenue types are freight revenue, fuel surcharge and accessorial. Freight revenue represents the
majority of our revenue and consists of fees earned for freight transportation, excluding fuel surcharge. Fuel surcharge
revenue consists of additional fees earned by the Company in connection with the performance of freight transportation
services to partially or completely offset the cost of fuel. Accessorial revenue consists of ancillary services provided by
the Company, including but not limited to, stop-off charges, loading and unloading charges, tractor or trailer detention
charges, expedited charges, repositioning charges, etc. These accessorial charges are recognized as revenue throughout
the service provided. The following tables set forth revenue disaggregated by revenue type:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Trucking  USAT Logistics Eliminations Total Trucking  USAT Logistics Eliminations Total

Revenue type (in thousands)
Freight $ 323,109 $§ 135,704 § (7,637) § 451,176 § 298,726 $ 169,665 $ (7,408) § 460,983
Fuel surcharge 49,059 15,532 (836) 63,755 48,122 16,429 (746) 63,805
Accessorial 4,925 2,775 — 7,700 4,374 4,898 — 9,272

Total $ 377,093 $§ 154,011 $§ (8473) § 522,631 $ 351,222 $§ 190,992 $ (8,154) $ 534,060

Accounting standards issued and adopted

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which required lessees to recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”)
asset and a lease obligation for all leases. Lessees are permitted to make an accounting policy election to not recognize an
asset and liability for leases with a term of twelve months or less. Lessor accounting under the new standard is substantially
unchanged. Additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures, including significant judgments made by management,
are required. The Company adopted the new standard beginning in the first quarter of 2019 using a modified retrospective
transition approach, which included a number of practical expedients. The effect of the adoption is reflected within the
consolidated financial statements (see Note 8 - Leases and Right of Use Assets).
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Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). This update requires measurement and recognition of expected
versus incurred credit losses for financial assets held. ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15,2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years, for smaller reporting companies. We are currently evaluating
the effect of adopting ASU 2016-13.

NOTE 2. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company’s two reportable segments are Trucking and USAT Logistics. In determining its reportable segments,
the Company’s chief operating decision-maker focuses on financial information, such as operating revenue, operating
expense categories, operating ratios and operating income, as well as on key operating statistics, to make operating
decisions.

Trucking. Trucking is comprised of one-way truckload and dedicated freight motor carrier services. Truckload
provides motor carrier services as a medium-haul common and contract carrier. USA Truck has provided truckload motor
carrier services since its inception, and continues to derive the largest portion of its gross revenue from these services.
Dedicated freight provides truckload motor carrier services to specific customers for movement of freight over particular
routes at specified times.

USAT Logistics. USAT Logistics’ service offerings consist of freight brokerage, logistics, and rail intermodal
services. Each of these service offerings match customer shipments with available equipment of authorized third-party
motor carriers and other service providers. The Company provides these services to many existing Trucking customers,
many of whom prefer to rely on a single service provider, or a small group of service providers, to provide all their
transportation solutions.

Revenue equipment assets are not allocated to USAT Logistics as freight services for customers are brokered
through arrangements with third party motor carriers who utilize their own equipment. To the extent rail intermodal or
other USAT Logistics operations require the use of Company-owned assets, they are obtained from the Company’s
Trucking segment on an as-needed basis. Depreciation and amortization expense is allocated to USAT Logistics based on
the Company-owned assets specifically utilized to generate USAT Logistics revenue. All intercompany transactions
between segments reflect rates similar to those that would be negotiated with independent third parties. All other expenses
for USAT Logistics are specifically identifiable direct costs or are allocated to USAT Logistics based on relevant cost
drivers, as determined by management.

Customer Concentration

Services provided to the Company’s largest customer generated approximately 12% and 14% of consolidated
operating revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and operating revenue generated by this
customer is reported in both the Trucking and USAT Logistics operating segments. No other customer accounted
for 10% or more of operating revenue in the stated reporting periods.

A summary of operating revenue by segment is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Operating revenue (in thousands)

Trucking revenue (1) $ 377,093 $ 351,222
Trucking intersegment eliminations (1,436) (3,493)
Trucking operating revenue 375,657 347,729
USAT Logistics revenue 154,011 190,992
USAT Logistics intersegment eliminations (7,037) (4,661)
USAT Logistics operating revenue 146,974 186,331

Total operating revenue $ 522,631 3 534,060

1) Includes foreign revenue of $37.0 million and $41.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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A summary of operating (loss) income by segment is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Operating (loss) income (in thousands)
Trucking $ (447) $ 11,710
USAT Logistics 2,762 9,509
Total operating income $ 2,315 $ 21,219
A summary of depreciation and amortization by segment is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Depreciation and amortization (in thousands)
Trucking $ 36,245  $ 27,632
USAT Logistics 948 692
Total depreciation and amortization $ 37,193 $ 28,324
NOTE 3. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 (2)
(in thousands)
Prepaid licenses, permits and tolls $ 1,438 § 1,521
Prepaid insurance 4,596 4,628
Other (1) 1,821 1,526
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 7855 8§ 7,675

1) No single item included within other prepaid expenses and other current assets exceeded 5.0% of our total current
assets.

2)  See Note 14 — Correction of Immaterial Errors for information regarding a revision made during the first quarter
of 2019.

NOTE 4. ACQUISITION OF DAVIS TRANSFER COMPANY

On October 18, 2018, USA Truck Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding equity of Davis Transfer Company for
$52.56 million in cash and $0.75 million in Company stock. The acquisition of Davis Transfer Company allowed us to
grow our base of drivers, expand and diversify our customer base, and improve our operating network of terminal facilities.
The purchase price was subject to a customary working capital adjustment post-closing. The equity purchase agreement
includes an agreement to execute an Internal Revenue Code Section 338(h)(10) election. As a result, the acquisition of
Davis was treated as an asset acquisition for income tax purposes and the $5.2 million in goodwill acquired was deductible
for tax purposes. Acquisition related expenses of $0.6 million were included in “Other, net” expenses line item in the
accompanying consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2018 assumes that the
Davis Transfer Company acquisition occurred as of January 1, 2018. Pro forma adjustments reflected in the financial
information below relate to accounting policy changes such as changes in depreciation expense of revenue equipment,
amortization of intangible assets, and accounting for certain operations and maintenance costs, along with other
adjustments for terminal rent expense to align Davis Transfer Company results with those of the Company and income tax
effects for the periods presented.
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Year Ended December 31, 2018
(in thousands)
Operating revenue $ 575,226
Net income 15,709

These unaudited pro forma amounts do not purport to be indicative of the results that would have actually been
obtained if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the period presented or that may be obtained in the future.

The following table summarizes the final fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the closing date

of the Davis Transfer Company acquisition. A working capital adjustment of $0.3 million was recorded during 2019,
which affected goodwill and the total cash consideration paid.

(in thousands)

Cash $ 810
Accounts receivable 4,582
Other current assets 1,036
Property and equipment 25,604
Intangible assets 18,040
Goodwill 5,231
Total assets 55,303
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,581)
Insurance accruals (417)
Total consideration transferred $ 53,305

Total Purchase Price Consideration

Cash paid 52,555
Stock granted 750
Total consideration $ 53,305
Net cash paid $ 51,745

NOTE 5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The following tables summarizes the intangible assets and amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018:

December 31, 2019

Amortization
period Gross Accumulated Net intangible
(years) Amount Amortization assets
(dollars in thousands)
Trade name indefinite  § 5,000 $ — S 5,000
Non-compete agreement 2 140 71 69
Customer relationships 10 12,900 1,516 11,384
Total intangible assets $ 18,040 § 1,587 $ 16,453
December 31, 2018
Amortization
period Gross Accumulated Net intangible
(years) Amount Amortization assets
(dollars in thousands)
Trade name indefinite  § 5,000 $ — 3 5,000
Non-compete agreement 2 140 10 130
Customer relationships 10 12,900 193 12,707
Total intangible assets $ 18,040 § 203 $ 17,837
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Amortization expense was $1.4 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31,2019 and 2018,
respectively. Changes in carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as
follows:

Trucking USAT Logistics
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 4926 $ —
Working capital adjustment 305 —
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 5231 § —

The above intangible assets have a weighted average life of 105 months. The expected amortization of these assets
for the next five successive years and thereafter is as follows:

(in thousands)

2020 $ 1,321
2021 1,288
2022 1,288
2023 1,288
2024 1,288
Thereafter 4,980

Total $ 11,453

NOTE 6. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 (2)
(in thousands)
Salaries, wages and employee benefits $ 3,668 $ 5,775
Federal and state tax accruals 1,648 1,898
Other (1) 1,202 1,693
Total accrued expenses $ 6,518 $ 9,366

1) No single item included within other accrued expenses exceeded 5.0% of our total current liabilities.

2) See Note 14 — Correction of Immaterial Error for information regarding a revision made during the first quarter
0f 2019.

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
(in thousands)

Revolving credit agreement $ 73,225 $ 85,300
Obligations under finance lease (Note 8) 11,783 —
Insurance premium financing 4,506 4,435
89,514 89,735
Less current maturities (6,165) (4,435)
Total long-term debt $ 83,349 $ 85,300
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Credit facility

On January 31, 2019, the Company, entered into a five year, $225.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility
(the “Credit Facility”) with a group of lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as agent (the “Agent”) pursuant to the terms of
an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement. The Credit Facility replaced the Company’s previous five year,
$170.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility dated February 15, 2015.

The Credit Facility is structured as a $225.0 million revolving credit facility, with an accordion feature that, so long
as no event of default exists, allows the Company to request an increase in the revolving credit facility of up to $75.0
million, exercisable in increments of at least $20.0 million. The Credit Facility is a five year facility scheduled to terminate
on January 31, 2024. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are classified as either “base rate loans” or “LIBOR loans”.
Base rate loans accrue interest at a base rate equal to the Agent’s prime rate plus an applicable margin adjusted quarterly
between 0.25% and 0.75% based on the Company’s consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio. LIBOR loans accrue interest
at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin adjusted quarterly between 1.25% and 1.75%
based on the Company’s consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio. The Credit Facility includes, within its $225.0 million
revolving credit facility, a letter of credit sub-facility in an aggregate amount of $15.0 million and a swingline sub-facility
(the “Swingline”) in an aggregate amount of $25.0 million. An unused line fee of 0.25% is applied to the average daily
amount by which the lenders’ aggregate revolving commitments exceed the outstanding principal amount of revolver loans
and the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility
is secured by a pledge of substantially all of the Company’s assets, except for any real estate or revenue equipment financed
outside the Credit Facility.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to a borrowing base limited to the lesser of (A) $225.0 million; or
(B) the sum of (i) 90.0% of eligible investment grade accounts receivable (reduced to 85.0% in certain situations), plus
(i1) 85.0% of eligible non-investment grade accounts receivable, plus (iii) the lesser of (a) 85.0% of eligible unbilled
accounts receivable and (b) $10.0 million, plus (iv) the product of 85.0% multiplied by the net orderly liquidation
value percentage applied to the net book value of eligible revenue equipment, plus (v) 85.0% multiplied by the net book
value of otherwise eligible newly acquired revenue equipment that has not yet been subject to an appraisal. The borrowing
base is reduced by an availability reserve, including reserves based on dilution and certain other customary reserves.

The Credit Facility contains a single financial covenant, which requires a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio
of at least 1.0 to 1.0 that is triggered in the event excess availability under the Credit Facility falls below 10.0% of the
lenders’ total commitments. Also, certain restrictions regarding the Company’s ability to pay dividends, make certain
investments, prepay certain indebtedness, execute share repurchase programs and enter into certain acquisitions and
hedging arrangements are triggered in the event excess availability under the Credit Facility falls below 20.0% of the
lenders’ total commitments.

The Company had no overnight borrowings under the Swingline as of December 31, 2019. The average interest
rate for all borrowings made under the Credit Facility as of December 31,2019 was 3.57%. As debt is repriced on
a monthly basis, the borrowings under the Credit Facility approximate fair value. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
had $7.4 million in letters of credit outstanding and had approximately $55.1 million available to borrow under the Credit
Facility taking into account borrowing base availability.

Insurance premium financing

In October 2019, the Company entered into a short-term agreement to finance approximately $4.5 million with a
third-party financing company for a portion of the Company’s annual insurance premiums.

In October 2018, the Company entered into short-term agreements to finance approximately $4.7 million to third-
party financing companies for the Company’s annual insurance premiums. During the third quarter of 2019, this note was
paid in full.
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NOTE 8. LEASES AND RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019. The standard requires lessees to recognize a ROU asset
and lease liability for all leases. Some of our leases contain both lease and non-lease components, which we have elected
to treat as a single lease component. We have also elected not to recognize in our consolidated balance sheets leases that
have an original lease term, including reasonably certain renewal or purchase options, of twelve months or less for all
classes of underlying assets. Lease costs for short-term leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
We elected the package of transition practical expedients for existing contracts, which allowed us to carry forward our
historical assessments of whether contracts are or contain leases, lease classification and determination of initial direct
costs.

The Company leases property and equipment under finance and operating leases. The Company has operating and
finance leases for revenue equipment, real estate, information technology equipment (primarily servers and copiers), and
various other equipment used in operating our business. Certain leases for revenue equipment and information technology
include options to purchase or extend, guarantee residual values, or early termination rights. Determining the lease term
and amount of lease payments to include in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability for leases containing options
requires the use of judgment to determine whether the exercise of an option or feature is reasonably certain, and if the
optional period and payments should be included in the calculation of the associated ROU asset and liability. In making
this determination, we consider all relevant economic factors that would compel us to exercise or not exercise an option
or feature.

When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments; however, the rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable for all of our leases. In such cases, we use an estimate of our incremental borrowing rate
to discount lease payments based on information available at lease commencement.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has entered into leases with lessors who do not participate in the Credit
Facility. Currently, such leases do not contain cross-default provisions with the Credit Facility.

Revenue Equipment

In addition to the revenue equipment owned by the Company, we currently lease 1,075 tractors and 806 trailers. Of
the leased revenue equipment, 802 tractors and 759 trailers are classified as finance leases and 273 tractors and 47 trailers
are classified as operating leases. Some of these assets are leased on a month-to-month basis and the leases can be
terminated without penalty. The lease term for these types of leases is determined by the length of the underlying customer
contract or based on the judgment of management. These leases are treated as short-term as the cumulative ROU is less
than 12 months over the term of the contract. The Company uses the leased revenue equipment for the same operational
purposes as its owned equipment.

Real Estate

We have operating and finance leases for office space, terminal facilities, and drop yards. Many of our leases contain
charges for common area maintenance or other miscellaneous expenses that are updated based on landlord estimates. Due
to this variability, the cash flows associated with these charges are not included in the minimum lease payments used in
determining the ROU asset and associated lease liability.

Some of our real estate leases contain options to renew or extend the lease or terminate the lease before the expiration
date. These options are factored into the determination of the lease term and lease payments when their exercise is
considered to be reasonably certain.

Information Technology and Other Equipment

The Company leases information technology and other equipment, primarily servers and copiers, in the course of
our operations.

57



Components of Lease Expense

The components of lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Operating lease costs
Finance lease costs:
Amortization of assets

Interest on lease liabilities
Total finance lease costs
Variable and short-term lease costs

Total lease costs

Supplemental information and balance sheet location related to leases is as follows:

Operating leases:

Operating lease right-of-use assets

Current operating lease obligations
Long-term operating lease obligations
Total operating lease liabilities

Finance leases:

Property and equipment, at cost
Accumulated amortization
Property and equipment, net

Current finance lease obligations
Long-term finance lease obligations

Weighted average remaining lease term:

Operating leases
Finance leases

Weighted average discount rate:

Operating leases
Finance leases

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:

Operating leases
Finance leases
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Year Ended
December 31, 2019

(in thousands)

9,185

13,711
2,521

16,232
989

26,406

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

(dollars in thousands)

11,775

6,050
5,812

11,862

120,236
(30,990)

89,246

30,779
58,397

89,176

(in months)

45 months
44 months

4.03 %
334 %

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

(in thousands)
87
2,521
14,016

2,319
32,440



Maturities of lease liabilities as of the year ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Finance Leases Operating Leases
(in thousands)

2020 $ 33334 § 6,297
2021 12,488 1,948
2022 12,488 1,529
2023 23,346 1,179
2024 13,853 888
Thereafter 1,102 1,146

Total lease payments 96,611 12,987
Less: Imputed interest (7,435) (1,125)

Total lease obligations 89,176 11,862
Less: Current obligations (30,779) (6,050)

Long-term lease obligations $ 58,397 $ 5,812

OTHER COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $11.4 million in noncancellable commitments for purchases of revenue
equipment. We anticipate funding these commitments with cash flows from operating and financing activities.

RELATED PARTY LEASE

In the normal course of business, the Company leases office and shop space from a related party under a monthly
operating lease. Rent expense for this space was approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. This expense is included in the “Operations and maintenance” line item in the
accompanying consolidated statement of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

SALE-LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS

In July 2019, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction whereby it sold tractors for approximately
$2.3 million and concurrently entered into a finance lease agreement for the sold tractors with a five year term. Under the
lease agreement, the Company paid an initial monthly payment of approximately $0.03 million. At the end of the lease,
the Company has the option to purchase the tractors. This transaction does not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting due
to the option to repurchase the tractors and is therefore treated as a financing obligation.

In April 2019, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction whereby it sold tractors for approximately
$10.5 million and concurrently entered into a finance lease agreement for the sold tractors with a five year term. Under
the lease agreement, the Company paid an initial monthly payment of approximately $0.1 million. At the end of the lease,
the Company has the option to purchase the tractors for the greater of fair market value or 32.5% of the original cost. This
transaction does not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting due to the option to repurchase the tractors and is therefore
treated as a financing obligation.
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NOTE 9. FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect
management’s best estimate of current and future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United States
and numerous state jurisdictions. Significant judgments and estimates are required in the determination of the consolidated
income tax expense.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts in the financial statements, which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Deferred tax assets: (in thousands)
Accrued expenses not deductible until paid $ 5215  § 7,017
Operating lease liabilities 2,981 —
Goodwill and intangible assets 1,426 1,353
Net operating loss carry forwards 1,643 245
Finance lease obligations 287 —
Revenue recognition 201 118
Equity incentive compensation 188 286
Allowance for doubtful accounts 168 207
Other 60 11

Total deferred tax assets $ 12,169 $ 9,237
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation $ (30,941) $ (31,009)
Operating leases - right of use assets (2,959) —
Prepaid expenses deductible when paid (2,095) (1,654)
Other (191) (92)

Total deferred tax liabilities (36,186) (32,755)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (24,017) $ (23,518)

The Company has a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $1.0 million that does not expire, but is
subject to an 80% of taxable income utilization limitation in future years. The Company also has certain state net operating
loss carryovers of approximately $0.6 million that expire in varying years through 2039. The Company expects to fully
utilize its tax attributes in future years before they expire.

Significant components of the (benefit) provision for income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Current: (in thousands)
Federal $ (637) S 1,263
State 173 729

Total current (464) 1,992
Deferred:
Federal 194 2,375
State 114 7

Total deferred 308 2,382

Total income tax (benefit) expense $ (156) % 4,374
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A reconciliation between the effective income tax rate and the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018
(dollars in thousands)
Income tax (benefit) expense at statutory federal rate $ (1,019) $ 3,481
Federal income tax effects of:
State income tax benefit (36) (155)
Per diem and other nondeductible meals and entertainment 388 329
Non-deductible compensation 271 —
Other (46) (19)
Federal income tax (benefit) expense (442) 3,636
State income tax expense 286 738
Total income tax (benefit) expense $ (156) $ 4,374
Effective tax rate 3.2 % 26.4 %

The effective rates for 2019 and 2018 varied from the statutory federal tax rate primarily due to state income taxes
and certain non-deductible expenses including a per diem pay structure for our drivers. Due to the partially nondeductible
effect of per diem pay, the Company’s tax rate will change based on fluctuations in earnings (losses) and in the number of
drivers who elect to receive this pay structure. Generally, as pretax income or loss increases, the impact of the driver per
diem program on our effective tax rate decreases, because aggregate per diem pay becomes smaller in relation to pretax
income or loss, while in periods where earnings are at or near breakeven the impact of the per diem program on our
effective tax rate can be significant. Additionally, during 2019 the Company’s tax rate was affected by vesting of equity-
based compensation at a lower stock price than the price at which it was granted, as well as non-deductible officer
compensation, resulting in an increase to tax expense and impacting the effective tax rate.

NOTE 10. EQUITY COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company adopted the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) in May 2014. The Incentive Plan
replaced the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and provided for the granting of up to 500,000 shares of common stock through
equity-based awards to directors, officers and other key employees and consultants. The First Amendment to the Incentive
Plan was adopted in May 2017, which, among other things, increased the number of shares of common stock available for
issuance under the Incentive Plan by an additional 500,000 shares. The Second Amendment to the Incentive Plan was
adopted in May 2019, which, among other things, increased the number of shares of common stock available for issuance
under the Incentive Plan by an additional 500,000 shares. As of December 31, 2019, 632,079 shares remain available
under the Incentive Plan for the issuance of future equity-based compensation awards.

The components of compensation expense recognized, net of forfeiture recoveries, related to equity-based
compensation is reflected in the table below for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
(in thousands)
Stock options $ 299 §$ —
Restricted stock awards 1,415 1,164
Equity compensation expense $ 1,714  § 1,164

Compensation expense related to all equity-based compensation awards granted under the Incentive Plan is included
in salaries, wages and employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive
(loss) income.
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Stock options

Stock options are the contingent right of award holders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a
stated price for a limited time. The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula, and is recognized over the vesting period of the award. Historically, the vesting
period of option awards has been 3 or 4 years and awards are exercisable over a three to ten year term. The Company
granted incentive stock options during 2019. There were no stock options outstanding for the year ended December 31,
2018. The following table summarizes the stock option activity under the Incentive Plan for the year ended December 31,
2019:

Weighted- Weighted- Aggregate
Average Average Intrinsic
Exercise Remaining Value (in
Number of Price Per Contractual thousands)
Shares Share Life (in years) 1)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2018 — 3 — — —
Granted (2) 182,865 17.58 — —
Exercised — — — —
Cancelled/forfeited (28,642) 16.84 — —
Expired — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 (3) 154223  § 17.72 9.17 § —
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 — 5 o — 3 =

1) The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds
the exercise price of the option. The per share market value of the Company’s common stock, as determined
by the closing price on December 31, 2019 was $7.45.

2) The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2019 was $9.12.
3) The exercise prices of outstanding options granted range from $13.54 to $17.75 as of December 31, 2019.

As of December 31, 2019 approximately $1.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock
options is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.

Restricted stock awards

Restricted stock awards are shares of the Company’s common stock that are granted subject to defined restrictions.
The estimated fair value of restricted stock awards is based upon the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant. The vesting period of restricted stock awards is ratably over a determined number of years, which has
historically been three or four years.

Information related to the restricted stock awarded for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value (1)
Nonvested shares — December 31, 2017 238,937 § 9.71
Granted 175,563 24.79
Forfeited (139,000) 12.31
Vested (23,631) 18.23
Nonvested shares — December 31, 2018 251,869 $ 17.99
Granted 283,077 16.91
Forfeited (84,620) 16.36
Vested (61,084) 21.92
Nonvested shares — December 31, 2019 389,242  § 16.94

1) The shares were valued at the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date(s) specified by the
award agreements.
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The fair value of restricted stock that vested during the year is as follows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
(in thousands)
Restricted stock $ 815  § 548

As of December 31, 2019, approximately $2.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
restricted stock awards is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Employee benefit plans

The Company sponsors the USA Truck, Inc. Employees’ Investment Plan, a tax deferred savings plan under section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code that covers substantially all team members. Employees can contribute up to
any percentage of their compensation, subject to statutory limits, with the Company matching 50% of the first 4% of
compensation contributed by each employee. Employees’ rights to employer contributions vest after two years from their
date of employment. The Company’s matching contributions to the plan were approximately $0.7 million and $0.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

NOTE 11. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Numerator: (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Net (loss) income $ (4,698) $ 12,204
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share — weighted average shares 8,525 8,194
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee restricted stock and incentive stock options — 24
Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share — adjusted weighted
average shares and assumed conversion 8,525 8,218
Basic (loss) earnings per share $ (0.55) § 1.49
Diluted (loss) earnings per share $ 0.55) § 1.49
Weighted average anti-dilutive employee restricted stock and incentive stock
options 433 77

NOTE 12. LITIGATION

USA Truck is party to routine litigation incidental to its business, primarily involving claims for personal injury and
property damage incurred in the transportation of freight. The Company maintains insurance to cover liabilities in excess
of certain self-insured retention levels. Though it is the opinion of management that these claims are immaterial to the
Company’s long-term financial position, adverse results of one or more of these claims could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements in any given reporting period.
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NOTE 13. RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENT AND OTHER COSTS
Restructuring, impairment and other costs
2018
During first quarter of 2018, the Company’s Trucking maintenance facility in South Holland, Illinois was reopened,
after having been closed in the first quarter of 2016. Accrued restructuring, impairment and other costs relating to the

closure in the amount of $0.6 million were reversed during the first quarter of 2018.

The following tables summarize the Company’s liabilities, charges, and cash payments related to the restructuring,
impairment and other costs for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Accrued Accrued
Balance Costs Balance
December 31, Incurred / December 31,
2017 (reversal) Payments 2018
(in thousands)
Facility closing expenses $ 770  $ (639) $ (131) $ —

A summary of the Company’s restructuring, impairment and other costs (reversal) by segment for the year ended
December 31, 2018:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Costs incurred (reversal) by segment (in thousands)
Trucking $ — 5 (587)
USAT Logistics — (52)
Total $ —  § (639)

Severance costs included in salaries, wages, employee benefits
2019

As part of a reduction in force, headcount was reduced during the fourth quarter 2019 with the intent of aligning the
non-driving support staff with the number of seated tractors. Total costs associated with the reduction were $0.2 million
and were recorded in the “Salaries, wages and employee benefits” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements
of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. At December 31, 2019, the Company had accrued severance costs
associated with the reduction in force of approximately $0.04 million.

During the first quarter of 2019, Johannes Hugo resigned as Senior Vice President - Trucking Operations. Pursuant
to Mr. Hugo’s resignation, the Executive Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) approved a separation agreement
with Mr. Hugo (the “Hugo Separation Agreement”). Pursuant to the Hugo Separation Agreement, Mr. Hugo received
(1) salary continuation through April 6,2019, (ii) vesting of 1,934 shares of restricted stock that vested on March 22, 2019,
(iii) noncompete payments equal to his then-current base salary for a period of twelve months subject to ongoing
compliance with certain non-competition, non-solicitation, non-disparagement, and confidentiality covenants in favor of
the Company, and (iv) a prorated cash payment, if and to the extent earned, under the short-term cash incentive
compensation program adopted by the Committee for 2019. In addition, the Hugo Separation Agreement contained a
customary release of claims in favor of the Company. During fourth quarter 2019, it was determined that no short-term
cash incentive was earned by Mr. Hugo. Total costs associated with Mr. Hugo’s resignation were $0.3 million and were
recorded in the “Salaries, wages and employee benefits” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of (loss)
income and comprehensive (loss) income. At December 31, 2019, the Company had accrued severance costs associated
with the Hugo Separation Agreement of $0.07 million.
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2018

During the first quarter of 2018, the Company announced the retirement of James Craig, the Company’s former
Executive Vice President, Chief Commercial Officer, and President — USAT Logistics. Effective March 23, 2018, in
connection with Mr. Craig’s retirement, the Committee approved a separation agreement (the “Craig Separation
Agreement”) with the following terms: (i) salary continuation through May 31, 2018, (ii) non-compete payments equal to
his current salary for a period of twelve months subject to ongoing compliance with certain non-competition, non-
solicitation, non-disparagement, and confidentiality covenants in favor of the Company, (iii) a prorated cash payment
under the short-term cash incentive compensation program adopted by the Committee for 2018, and (iv) accelerated
vesting of 5,488 shares of time-vested restricted stock of the Company scheduled to vest on July 30,2018 and 5,488 shares
of performance-vested restricted stock of the Company scheduled to vest on July 30, 2018 depending on performance
relative to USAT Logistics performance goals. Total costs associated with Mr. Craig’s retirement were $0.7 million and
were recorded in the “Salaries, wages and employee benefits” line item in the accompanying consolidated statements of
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. At December 31, 2019, all costs associated with the Craig Separation
Agreement were paid in full.

The following tables summarize the Company’s liabilities, charges, and cash payments related to severance costs
incurred during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Accrued Accrued
Balance Balance
December 31, Costs December 31,
2018 Incurred Payments 2019

(in thousands)
Severance costs included in salaries, wages and employee

benefits $ 247 § 441 § (575 $ 113
Accrued Accrued
Balance Balance
December 31, Costs December 31,
2017 Incurred Payments 2018

(in thousands)

Severance costs included in salaries, wages and employee
benefits $ 35 § 711§ (499 $ 247

A summary of the Company’s severance costs included in salaries, wages and employee benefits by segment for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is below:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
Costs incurred by segment (in thousands)
Trucking $ 434 $ 484
USAT Logistics 7 227
Total $ 441 $ 711

65



NOTE 14. CORRECTION OF IMMATERIAL ERRORS

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31,
2019, we identified immaterial errors related to the recognition of certain income and expenses in the prior quarterly and
annual periods. In accordance with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”’) No. 99,
“Materiality,” and SAB No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements
in Current Year Financial Statements,” we evaluated the errors and determined that the related impact was not material to
our financial statements for any prior annual or interim period, but that correcting the cumulative impact of the error would
be significant to our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019. Accordingly, we have adjusted our
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2018.

The effects of the adjustment on the individual line items within our consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2018 were as follows:

December 31, 2018

As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted
(in thousands)
Accounts receivable, net $ 56,003 $ 1,186 $ 57,189
Other receivables 5,104 584 5,688
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,224 451 7,675
Accounts payable 22,453 1,029 23,482
Accrued expenses 8,977 389 9,366
Retained earnings 77,664 803 78,467
Total stockholders’ equity 80,470 803 81,273

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act and SEC rules and regulations promulgated thereunder,
the Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. Management, including the Company’s Principal Executive Officer (the “PEO”) and the Principal Financial
Officer (the “PFO”), does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting will prevent all errors, misstatements, or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will be
met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company will
be detected.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information,
including information pertaining to any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify the financial
reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors. Management, with the participation of
the PEO and the PFO conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2019 the PEO
and PFO have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance
level to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted by the Company under the
Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the PEO and
PFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of USA Truck is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f) as
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer and
effected by the Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

2) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including its principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting
was conducted based on the criteria set forth in the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on management’s evaluation under the
criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013), management concluded that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2019.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, has been audited by Grant
Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, as attested to in their report included herein.

Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
No change occurred in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and

15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2019, that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
USA Truck, Inc.

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of USA Truck, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31,
2019, and our report dated February 19, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Tulsa, Oklahoma
February 19, 2020
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
sections entitled “Proposal One: Election of Directors,” “Continuing Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Corporate
Governance — The Board of Directors and Its Committees — Other Board and Corporate Governance Matters,” and
“Corporate Governance — The Board of Directors and Its Committees — Committees of the Board of Directors — Audit
Committee” contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC (the “2020 Proxy”™).

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required in this Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
sections entitled “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance — The Board of Directors and Its Committees —
Committees of the Board of Directors — Executive Compensation Committee” contained in the 2020 Proxy.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required in this Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
sections entitled ”Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors and Executive Officers” and “Securities
Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” contained in the 2020 Proxy.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required in this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the

sections entitled “Certain Transactions” and “Corporate Governance — The Board of Directors and Its Committees — Board
of Directors — Director Independence” contained in the 2020 Proxy.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required in this Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
section entitled “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” contained in the 2020 Proxy.
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